

# ASEAN HUMANITARIANISM TO HUMAN RIGHTS – CHILD RIGHTS INCORPORATED IN HUMANITARIAN RELIEF IN A NATURAL DISASTER: CASE STUDY OF TYPHOON HAIYAN

BY

**MISS WEI WU** 

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS (ASEAN STUDIES) PRIDI BANOMYONG INTERNATIOANL COLLEFE THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY ACADEMIC YEAR 2015 COPYRIGHT OF THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY

# ASEAN HUMANITARIANISM TO HUMAN RIGHTS – CHILD RIGHTS INCORPORATED IN HUMANITARIAN RELIEF IN A NATURAL DISASTER: CASE STUDY OF TYPHOON HAIYAN

BY

**MISS WEI WU** 

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS (ASEAN STUDIES) PRIDI BANOMYONG INTERNATIOANL COLLEFE THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY ACADEMIC YEAR 2015 COPYRIGHT OF THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY



### THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY PRIDI BANOMYONG INTERNATIOANAL COLLEGE

THESIS

BY

### MISS WEI WU

### **ENTITLED**

## ASEAN HUMANITARIANISM TO HUMAN RIGHTS – CHILD RIGHTS INCORPORATED IN HUMANITARIAN RELIEF IN A NATURAL DISASTER: CASE STUDY OF TYPHOON HAIYAN

was approved as partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Arts (ASEAN Studies)

on July 30, 2016

home proce

Chairman

(Professor Thanet Aphornsuvan, PhD)

sida A.

(Assistant Professor Sunida Aroonpipat, PhD)

Coeli Barry, Ph

MANN

(Kasira Cheeppensook ,PhD)

N. Dathamant

(Associate Professor Niyom Rathamrit, Ph.D.)

Advisor

Member

Member

Dean

Thesis Title	ASEAN HUMANITARIANISM TO	
	HUMAN RIGHTS – CHILD RIGHTS	
	INCORPORATED IN	
	HUMANITARIAN RELIEF IN A	
	NATURAL DISASTER: CASE	
	STUDY OF TYPHOON HAIYAN	
Author	Miss Wei Wu	
Degree	Master of Arts (ASEAN Studies)	
Department/Faculty/University	ASEAN Studies	
	Pridi Banomyong International College	
	Thammasat University	
Dissertation Advisor	Assistant Professor Sunida Aroonpipat, PhD	
Dissertation Co - Advisor	Coeli Barry, PhD	
Academic Year	2015	

### ABSTRACT

Incorporating human rights approach to humanitarianism raises a "new humanitarianism" concept; however, the challenges include political conflict on the ground or the lack of a robust rights-based approach in humanitarian relief. In addition, the ASEAN as an intergovernmental organization shows a more active motivation in human rights development, also the concern on child rights in disasters in the past decades.

A frequency series of natural disasters attack this region, especially tsunamis, earthquakes, floods, haze, typhoons etc. Children are a special group in disaster situation; they face a higher risk of violence, exploitation, and trafficking and their voices also need to be heard. Thus, their vulnerability narrative and their participation is the main concern in humanitarian relief. The ASEAN, has established the AICHR and the AHA Centre, along with other agreements or sectors related to child rights in disasters or humanitarian relief. This thesis argues that there is a role for the ASEAN in child rights achievement in humanitarian relief, both in humanitarian relief itself and cooperating with the governments and civil society as an intergovernmental organization.

This study using the concept of the relationship between humanitarianism and human rights, explores a rights- based approach in humanitarian relief, using the UNCRC (United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child)'s definition of child rights as an example, to examine the child rights based approach in humanitarian relief, particularly the case of the Typhoon Haiyan. The objectives were to investigate the achieved and unachieved child rights in this case study, to research the role of the ASEAN in child rights implementation in humanitarian relief.

**Keywords:** ASEAN, Child rights, Humanitarian relief, Natural disaster, Human rights, Humanitarianism, Haiyan (Yolanda)



#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my advisor, Assistant Professor Dr. Sunida Aroonpipat, for her supervision and attention to my thesis research, especially the comments about the ASEAN. I am also grateful for my coadvisor, Dr. Coeli Barry, for her professional supervision in human rights and academic analysis. Without their constant guidance and encouragement, this thesis would not have been possible. I am truly grateful for their unwavering support. I am also grateful to my other committee members, Professor Dr. Thanet Aphornsuvan and Dr. Kasira Cheeppensook for their suggestions and comments for this study.

I wish to express my special thanks to Dr. Jayeel Serrano Cornelio from the Development Studies Program of Ateneo de Manila University. His comments and discussion points are greatly appreciated during the field research in the Philippines. In addition, I am very grateful for all the interviewers from Save the Children, Plan International and World Vision in Tacloban City. Their warm reception and cooperation helped a great deal during the information collection on the ground. Moreover, thanks to Mr. Manasak Khlongchainan to accompany me during the field research and to make a nice short film for this study.

In addition, I am grateful for the interviewers from Save the Children, Oxfam, World Vision, and the ASEAN related sections in Thailand, Indonesia and Singapore, who kindly accepted my interview invitations through Skype.

Last but not least, I would like to express my truly gratitude to the ASEAN Studies' staff, i.e., Miss Pataraporn Rukpium, from Pridi Banomyong Internatioanl College, Thammasat University, with her hard work for the whole thesis progress. Furthermore, I wish to thank my family and friends for encouraging and supporting me in my study. Without all these lovely people, I could never have finished my study.

Miss. Wei Wu

# CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	Page (1)
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	(3)
LIST OF TABLES	(7)
LIST OF FIGURES	(8)
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	(9)
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Context	6
1.2 Objectives	10
1.3 Research Questions	10
1.4 Methodology	11
1.4.1 Documentary research	11
1.4.2 Interviews	11
1.4.3 Field research	12
1.5 Thesis Structure	12
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	14
2.1 Humanitarianism and Human Rights	14
2.1.1 Incorporating human rights in humanitarian relief work	14
2.1.2 The challenges in real practices	16
2.2 Child Rights in Humanitarian Relief during Disaster	19

2.2.1 The vulnerability of children	19
2.2.2 Children's participation	21
2.2.3 Defining the child rights in natural disaster humanitarian re	elief 23
2.3 Conclusion	27

### CHAPTER 3 INGOS' HUMANITARIAN RELIEF FOR CHILDREN IN TYPHOON HAIYAN

3.1 Context	30
3.2 Case Study: Typhoon Haiyan	32
3.2.1 Survival rights	34
3.2.1.1 Standard of living	34
3.2.1.2 Social security	35
3.2.1.3 Health care	36
3.2.2 Membership rights	36
3.2.2.1 Nondiscrimination	36
3.2.2.2 Family rights	37
3.2.2.3 Right to a name and nationality	37
3.2.3 Protection rights	38
3.2.4 Empowerment rights	38
3.2.4.1 Child participation	38
3.2.4.2 Education	39
3.3 Conclusion	40
CHAPTER 4 ASEAN'S HUMANITARIAN RELIEF FOR CHILDREN IN	
TYPHOON HAIYAN	42

4.1 Context	42
4.1.1 Natural disasters and disaster management in ASEAN	44
4.1.2 Humanitarian relief in ASEAN	45

30

4.2 Children in the ASEAN's Humanitarian Response	46
4.2.1 ASEAN Committee on Disaster Management (ACDM)	46
4.2.2 ASEAN Commission on the Promotion and Protection of the Rights of	f
Women and Children (ACWC)	46
4.2.3 AADMER Partnership Group (APG)	47
4.3 Case Study: Typhoon Haiyan	48
4.3.1 Survival rights	48
4.3.2 Membership rights, protection rights, empowerment rights	49
4.3.3The cooperation in Typhoon Haiyan	49
4.4 Conclusion	50
4.4.1 Child rights incorporated to ASEAN humanitarian relief	50
4.4.2 The role of ASEAN in child rights incorporated to humanitarian relief	51
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND SUGGESTIONS	54
5.1 Conclusion	54
5.2 Suggestions	56
REFERENCES	58
APPENDIX	63
	05

69

## LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Page
1.1 The Ages of Humanitarianism	1
4.1 Number of Natural Disaster per Year (Average from 2001 until 2010)	43
4.2 Incidence of Disaster in East and Southeast Asia	43



## LIST OF FIGURES

Figures	Page
2.1 Child Rights Based Conceptual Framework	27
3.1 The path of Typhoon Yolanda/Haiyan	32



### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviations	Terms	Types
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations	Organization
AICHR	ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights	Regional department
AMSs	ASEAN Member States	
AHA Centre	The ASEAN Coordinating Centre for Humanitarian Assistance on Disaster Management	Organization
AADMER	ASEAN Agreement on Disaster Management and Emergency Response	Agreement
APG	AADMER Partnership Group	Work group
ACWC	ASEAN Commission on the Promotion and Protection of the Rights of Women and Children	Regional department
AEGDM	ASEAN Expert Group on Disaster Management	Work group
AMMDC	ASEAN Ministerial Meeting on Disaster Management	Meeting
ACDM	ASEAN Committee on Disaster Management	Regional department
ARPDM	ASEAN Regional Program on Disaster Management	Program
ASSI	ASEAN Safe School Initiative	Program
ARYA	Assistance for the Recovery of Yolanda-Affected Areas	
BHSs	Barangay health stations	
BCPC	Barangay Council for the Protecting of Children	
CICL	Children in conflict with the law	
DRR	Disaster Risk Reduction	

DHCA	Humanitarian and Civic Assistance Operations	
ECHO	European Community Humanitarian Office	Organization
ERAT	Emergency Rapid Assessment Team	Work group
GOODS	The Great Observatories Origins Deep Survey	
GDP	Gross Domestic Product	
GBV	Gender-based violence	
HFA	Hyogo Framework of Action	
НАР	Humanitarian Accountability Partnership	
INGO	International Non-governmental Organization	
IGO	Intergovernmental Organization	3111
ICCPR	International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights	
LGUs	Local government units	
NGO	Non-governmental Organization	2511
NDRRMC	National Disaster Risk Reduction Management Center	Government office
OPARR	Office of President Assistant for Rehabilitation and Recovery	Government office
PLAN	Plan International Organiz	
PSA	Philippine Statistics Authority	
SRH	Sexual reproductive health	
SAVE	Save the Children	Organization
UDHR	Universal Declaration of Human rights	
UNCRC	United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child	
UNOCHA	United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian AffairsOrganizatio	
WASH	Water, sanitation and hygiene	
WV	World Vision	Organization

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Humanitarianism and human rights are often understood as being synonymous; however, humanitarianism focuses on life saving while human rights focus on the long-term goal of eliminating the causes of suffering (Barnett, 2011, p 16). In the history of humanitarianism, three distinct ages of humanitarianism have been occurred: imperial humanitarianism; neo-humanitarianism and liberal humanitarianism. The ages and their elements are summarized in the following table (Barnett, 2011).

Table 1.1

	1800-1945	1945-1989	1989-present
Forces	Imperial	Neo-	Liberal
	Humanitarianism	Humanitarianism	Humanitarianism
Destruction	Great Power war and	Cold War and	Liberal peace
(violence)	colonialism	decolonization	
Production (economy)	Commerce	Development	Globalization
Compassion (protection)	Civilization	Sovereignty	Human Rights

The Ages of Humanitarianism

*Note*. From "Empire of Humanity - A History of Humanitarianism" by Barnett, M. 2010, Cornell University Press, p. 30.

We are now in the Liberal Humanitarianism Age; globalization has brought connections, facilitated by technological revolutions in transportation and communication, and a heightened a sense of community. This is evident not only in the steady stream of global campaigns to ban landmines, provide debt relief; and make medicines accessible to the poor, but also in changes in the meaning of state sovereignty and, most prominently and profoundly, the ascendant discourse of human rights. Humanitarianism and human rights have distinct meanings. Human rights relies on a discourse on rights, focusing on legal discourse and frameworks, while humanitarianism involves on a discourse on needs and shifts attention to moral codes and sentiments (Barnett, 2011). However, they also have similarity; they share a common view of the essential characteristics of human welfare and human dignity. When individuals experience the same abject conditions, they suffer in more or less the same way, regardless of their gender, cultural or religious identity, or political persuasion. As a rule, humanitarians, like human rights advocates, reject the relativist view that suffering is acceptable when it is part of an established way of life (Wilson & Brown, 2011, p 5).

The difference and similarity make aid workers and human rights activists continue to explore the relationship between them over the decades. Along with the development of humanitarianism, the concept of human rights gains greater awareness; many humanitarian organizations apply the human rights approach in their activities, considering it a new integration. Scholars are bringing 'new humanitarianism' concepts to ensure that humanitarian relief is one method to develop human rights<sup>1</sup>. However, other voices, like that of Hugo Slim, have raised the problem that: although human rights standards have always been integral to the principles of humanitarian position and a human rights position are somehow at odds with each other'(Slim, 1997, p. 345). In addition, the mismatch also insists between rights-based approach to post-disaster humanitarian work and legal framework of human rights. The arguments have continued until today. The relationship between humanitarianism and human rights is the major concept of this thesis research, and more discussion will be presented in the following chapters.

After World War II, humanitarianism became globalized. After the Cold War, new humanitarian emergencies appeared, that Barnett labeled the, "new war"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> " New humanitarianism rejects the political naivety of the past, assesses the longterm political impact of relief and is prepared to see humanitarian aid used as a tool to achieve human rights and political goals" (Fox, 2001, p 275).

such as economic crises, terrorism and different natural disasters<sup>2</sup>. Another product after the Cold War in Southeast Asian region, is the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), a regional intergovernmental organization (IGO), established in 1967. ASEAN's human rights development is in making very slow progress due to the ASEAN's human rights policy and the reasons advanced for the lack of ASEAN's human rights mechanisms. Until the 1990s the progress on human rights had been made this in context. In 1993, the ASEAN's foreign ministers agreed that ASEAN should establish a regional human rights mechanism. The ASEAN Chapter's provision for the establishment of an ASEAN human rights body in Article 14 was a welcome surprise. These gave the necessary boost to human rights, making it a legitimate issue for discussion at the official regional level, and set in motion often conflicted process of establishing the first human rights mechanism in Asia (Li, 2011, p xii ). In 2009, the ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights (AICHR) was established, with the function of promoting human rights in the region. In the meantime, ASEAN also developed some human rights relative instruments to feed into the work of AICHR, like the ASEAN Declaration on the Protection and Promotion of the Rights of Migrant Workers and its supplementary Commission on Migrant Workers in 2007 and the ASEAN Commission for the Protection of Women and Children's Rights in 2011.

Human rights issues are considered by many states as internal affairs; many states believe individual rights must give way to the demands of national security and economic growth, or that human rights can be realized only after a certain level of economic advancement has been achieved. Any human rights mechanisms cannot possibly encompass the entire range of diversity among states within the region in terms of historical background, culture and tradition, religion, and levels of economic and political development (Medina, 1999, p i). In this divers region, human rights issues are not only facing Southeast Asian's political sensitivity, but also the "new war", namely, humanitarian emergencies.

Regarding child rights among the ASEAN Member States (AMSs), all ten countries have ratified the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Such as the Asian financial crisis in 1997; 911 and the 2004 tsunami in Asia.

(UNCRC)<sup>3</sup> and all the governments as well as ASEAN are expected to produce agreements or programs in terms of child rights protection. The UNCRC is the main organ for child rights protection for the signed counties, especially in the human rights undeveloped states. However, not only for Member States, UNCRC also calls for cooperation from the outside, from civil society, the community and even from individuals. Children, as humans, have rights and their interests are the basis for having rules requiring others to behave in certain ways with respect to these rules. Thus, this research will use UNCRC as an example, by adopting its definition on child rights, to examine a child rights based approach to post-disaster humanitarian work.

Regarding the on the ground humanitarian work during natural disasters, internationally, child-focused international nongovernmental organizations (INGOs), such as Plan International (PLAN) and World Vision(WV)<sup>4</sup>, have adopted the Child-Centered Hyogo Framework of Action (HFA) that could be considered a model framework for child rights protection in the disaster management. With a view to ensuring that children have a voice as key local stakeholders in the views from the Frontline Report and in the Global DRR (Disaster Risk Reduction) governance arena, PLAN, supported by WV International, UNICEF and Save the Children (SAVE)<sup>5</sup> designed a complementary survey modeled on the Great Observatories Origins Deep Survey (GOODS)<sup>6</sup>, but with a focus on children's role and views on HFA progress

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> After World War I, the rights of the child were recognized along with the adoption of the Declaration of Geneva in 1924, and in 1959, the UN adopted the <u>Geneva</u> <u>Declarations of Children's Rights</u>. The recognition of the interests and rights of the child became realized with the 1989 Convention on the Rights of the Child.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the following section short as PLAN (PLAN International), and WV (World Vision). They are the selected INGOs, presented as examples of humanitarian agencies investigated in this study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the following section short as SAVE (Save the Children), another humanitarian agency, is examined in this study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> GOODS is an <u>astronomical survey</u> combining deep observations from three of <u>NASA's Great Observatories</u>: the <u>Hubble Space Telescope</u>, the <u>Spitzer Space</u> <u>Telescope</u> and the <u>Chandra X-ray Observatory</u> along with data from other <u>space-</u>

(PLAN, WV). The child-focused INGOs, PLAN and WV applied a child-centered DRR approach to the HFA in 2009.<sup>7</sup>

The ASEAN differs from INGOs, whose members are individuals or associations with set guidelines and standards determined by its founders, governors, stakeholders etc. However, ASEAN is an IGO, a structure based on organization with formal instruments of agreement among AMSs. In terms of child-focused humanitarian relief organizations of ASEAN, however, one and only one exists, is the ASEAN Coordinating Centre for Humanitarian Assistance on disaster management (AHA Centre), was being mentioned in AADMER (ASEAN Agreement on Disaster Management and Emergency Response) and established in 2011, aiming to facilitate cooperation and coordination among AMSs and with the United Nations and international organizations for disaster management and emergency response in Southeast Asian Region. The AHA Centre serves as a monitoring and response pocus point. As an IGO, AHA Centre is functioning more than promoting and calling corporations. In addition, APG (The AADMER Partnership Group), a consortium of seven civil society organizations, was formed to help implement AADMER. It links civil society to AADMER, and provides rich experience in disaster management and emergency response. Its members comprise the ChildFund, HelfAge International,

based telescopes, such as XMM Newton, and some of the world's most powerful ground-based telescopes (WIKIPEDIA).

<sup>7</sup> This approach was signed by 168 States at the World Disaster Reduction Conference, held in Kobe, Hyogo, Japan in January 2005. It underscored the need for, and identified ways of building the resilience of nations and communities to respond effectively to disasters. This framework established five priorities for action: 1.<u>Governance</u> - Ensure that disaster risk reduction is a national and a local priority with a strong institutional basis for implementation. 2. <u>Risk Assessment, Monitoring and Warning</u> - Identify, assess and monitor disaster risks and enhance early warning. 3. <u>Knowledge and Education</u> - Use knowledge, innovation and education to build a culture of safety and resilience at all levels. 4. <u>Underlying risk factors</u>- Reduce the underlying risk factors. 5. <u>Preparedness and Response</u> - Strengthen disaster preparedness for an effective response at all levels.

Mercy Malaysia, PLAN, SAVE and WV, of which ChildFund, PLAN, SAVE and WV are child-focused INGOs.

Thus, this study aimed to examine the child rights based approach to humanitarian relief on child-focus INGO and the ASEAN. On the one hand, we could find discover the uncovered parts of child rights regarding disaster humanitarian relief; on the other hand, based on those uncovered parts, to explore the clearer role of ASEAN in terms of child rights achievement during disaster humanitarian aid work as an IGO.

#### **1.1 Context**

Southeast Asia is an area with frequent natural disasters. Millions of people including children die and are made homeless or displaced due to a lack of knowledge on disasters, emergency preparedness, and risk reduction. The 2004 Asian tsunami caused a loss of nearly 230,000 lives (Sisira & McCawley, 2010, p 1). The 2008 cyclone Nargis ranked among the deadliest cyclones of all time, causing an estimated 138,000 deaths in Myanmar (The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank, 2012). Two earthquakes struck Sumatra in 2009, where 1,117 people were reported dead; 2.5 million people were affected with 250,000 families left homeless. Typhoon Ketsana hit Vietnam on 28 September 2009, followed by Typhoon Mirinae five weeks later. Over 3 million people were affected and at least 150,000 people were forced to leave their homes. Typhoon Ketsana and Parma struck the Philippines in October 2009 causing heavy rain and landslides, affecting 8.7 million people; 902 people died and more than 1.9 million were forced to leave their homes (Wannachan, 2010, pp 8-9). Flooding plagued much of Southeast Asia in the 2011 monsoon season. Thailand, Cambodia, Myanmar, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and the Philippines—which experienced heavy rainfall from intense tropical storms, suffered a collective death toll of more than 1,000, with more than 400 people drowned in Thailand, and 250 dead in Cambodia (Hunt, 2011).

These series of disasters made millions of people lose their families and children comprised the weakest part. Thus, protecting the rights of children in disaster situations is one of the most important works concerning child rights protection. Issues exceeded basic living support, other issues during disaster also got attentions. For example, the problem of child trafficking, references were made to the Asian tsunami, where "Child traffickers were widely suspected of targeting survivors of the Asian tsunami in 2005" (Chamberlain, 2008) and reports of trafficking there were used as proof that trafficking was a major issue in the wake of disasters (Montgomery, 2011, p 401). Montgomery argued that this issue was magnified by the media including untrue reports, making it possible to see how Western fears of child abduction and sexual exploration were globalized and exported. This problem needed combating with great energy and vigilance (Montgomery, 2011), where in the media bungled this problem of natural disasters management, creating greater concerns. This problem exists and forces children to face higher risk in disaster situations; however, children have a right to be heard<sup>8</sup>.

During disasters, we need to see children both as beneficiaries, their basic rights to survival, development, and protection must be fulfilled, and as actors, providing useful knowledge of their communities, neighborhoods, and family assets and actively contributing to disaster relief and recovery efforts (Penrose & Takaki, 2006, p669). Children are affected by disasters, their rights to survival, to be protected; to access clean food and water, attend schools, ensure health etc. are all cause for concern, in addition, their participation. Disasters only worsen these conditions and increase risks (The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank, 2012, p6).

In general, disasters can be classified in four major groups: natural disasters<sup>9</sup>, technological disasters<sup>10</sup>, economic crises<sup>11</sup> and violence<sup>12</sup> (Sawada, 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "Discussing trafficking appeals to the fantasies of Westerners, not children at risk, panders to adults' fears and priorities not children's. Children, it is increasingly acknowledged, have a right to be heard" (Montgomery, 2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Consisting of hydrological disasters (floods), meteorological disasters (storms or typhoons), climatological disasters (droughts), geophysical disasters (earthquakes, tsunamis and volcanic eruptions) and biological disasters (epidemics and insect infestations).

The case study involving this thesis research is based on Typhoon Haiyan, which hit the Philippines November 2013. This super typhoon was one of the most powerful and destructive typhoons ever recorded. The Philippines is used to typhoons with an average of 20 typhoons making landfall every year, but Haiyan, known locally as Yolanda, was different. Despite storm warnings and preparedness, more than 6,000 people were killed and houses, schools and health centers were flattened. Some 14.1 million people were affected. Over 4.1 million were displaced, including 1.7 million children (UNICEF, 2014). "Natural disasters like Typhoon Haiyan will affect children for their lifetime," said Katherine Manik, country director for ChildFund Philippines. "Children are particularly vulnerable in disaster situations. Many children are unaccompanied or neglected while parents look for food and water."

Children have no choice but to live with more frequent and intense disasters. Children in cooperation with communities need to be equipped with lifesaving tools to reduce their risk and the risk of others from disasters and develop resilience (Wannachan, 2010). During humanitarian relief, most children are provided only material relief and education, considered a fuller rights achievement, and both regional and national levels of long term recovery are needed. In this sense, incorporating child rights with the humanitarian relief approach is an important strategy during natural disasters; however, it also faces problems of internal regulations or laws. For example, child labor or trafficking issues may arise after children are separated from their families, so not only humanitarian relief workers need to be concerned with these issues, but also local government or even international support turn to human rights issues, which may create sensitive political problems at the local level. This is one of the challenges that both INGOs and the ASEAN, as a regional community and IGO need to face. Regional human rights requires protection and more specific child rights require a deeper understanding and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Such as industrial accidents (chemical spills, collapses of industrial infrastructures) and transport accidents (by air, rail, road or water means of transport).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> hyperinflation, banking crisis and currency crisis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> terrorism, civil strife, riots and war

more sensitive treatment of child rights issues among governments and people in the region (Medina, 1999).

Typhoon Haiyan is a suitable case to examine humanitarian relief work using the child rights approach integrated in the ASEAN. Firstly, in terms of humanitarian relief, it constituted the largest natural disaster after the establishment of the AHA Centre (2011) and APG (2009); it presented an opportunity to examine AHA Centre itself and the cooperation with civil society during Typhoon Haiyan. Secondly, in terms of child rights, the AICHR established in 2009, and later in its work plan 2011-2015 indicates a study on 'women and children in conflict and disaster', showing that the ASEAN human rights development did consider the issue of child rights in disasters, and all AMSs have ratified the UNCRC, which provides an example to examine the child rights based approach to humanitarian relief work in this thesis research. Thirdly, Typhoon Haiyan is the second greatest natural disaster where the ASEAN did initiate humanitarian relief, after Cyclone Nargis in Myanmar 2008. The ASEAN's engagement was critical in building a bridge between the government of Myanmar and the international community to facilitate humanitarian assistance' (Fan & Krebs, 2014). Because the ASEAN played a historic role in facilitating and coordinating the response during Cyclone Nargis, after that, the ASEAN established the AICHR, AHA Centre and APG. These are all signs to see the ASEAN's motivation on humanitarian work and human rights development, and furthermore, integrating them. Thus, Typhoon Haiyan offers a clear lens to see through.

In addition to the ASEAN, this thesis research will also focus on three INGOs: PLAN, SAVE and WV. They are child-focused INGOs with rich experience in international humanitarian relief. They all acknowledge UNCRC as a guideline to achieve child rights implementation, and are partners in the APG. They all contribute to early humanitarian relief and are still conducting post-disaster work in Tacloban City. Even though INGO and ASEAN have different natures and roles, it doesn't lead them to an opposite relation. They can corporate to reach as many children as they can, to achieve their rights during Typhoon Hiayan.

Regarding the vulnerability of children in disasters, the higher risk they are facing, also their voices need to be heard. The focus of this research is to discuss child rights achievement involving humanitarian relief in Typhoon Haiyan, and to find out the uncover part(s) that the child focus INGOs haven't cover, based on the uncover parts, to explore the possibilities of integrating child rights and humanitarian relief following ASEAN's humanitarian relief and coordination. In addition, the challenges that the ASEAN is facing and the roles that the ASEAN is playing will be discussed, in terms of a child rights based approach incorporated in humanitarian relief in natural disasters.

#### **1.2 Objectives**

• To examine the child rights based approach to humanitarian relief using the case study of Typhoon Haiyan

• To research the achieved and unachieved rights of the child regarfing humanitarian relief in the case study of Typhoon Haiyan

• To explore the possible causes of unachieved rights of the child by humanitarian relief in the case study of Typhoon Haiyan

• To investigate ways for the ASEAN to implement child rights using humanitarianism

• To clarify the roles of the ASEAN in terms of integrating child rights and humanitarian relief and the challenges the ASEAN faces

#### **1.3 Research Questions**

• In the case of Typhon Haiyan, did the child-focused INGOs humanitarian relief works achieve the child rights based approach on the ground?

• In the case of Typhoon Haiyan, did the ASEAN itself and its coordination in humanitarian relief achieve the child rights based approach on the ground?

• What is the role of ASEAN in this integration between child rights and humanitarian relief and what are the challenges?

#### 1.4 Methodology

This thesis employed a qualitative approach. An adjusted conceptual framework on child rights in disaster situations will be adopted, as a child rights based approach example, to examine child-focused INGOs and the ASEAN's humanitarian relief work's achievement on child rights in the case of Typhoon Haiyan. The literature review comprised academic resources; the information and analyses were based on secondary sources collected from academic journals, authoritative news websites, the ASEAN and INGO official websites. The field research was conducted in Tacloban City, the Philippines. The interviews were conducted among officers in charge of the ASEAN issues regarding child rights or child protection and also involving social workers or program staff from child-focused INGOs, both in Thailand and in Tacloban. The period for collecting data was from 18 November 2013 to November 2015, two years after Typhoon Haiyan i.e., the response and long term recovery period.

#### **1.4.1 Documentary research**

Firstly, the literature review helped to understand the existing knowledge and arguments of the relationship between human rights and humanitarianism and provided the bedding concept of this research. Moreover child rights in general and child rights during disasters were reviewed. Upon completion, the literature was summarized and a conceptual framework was developed that helped to systematically analyze the data concerning Typhoon Haiyan.

For the analysis part, data were collected from field research in Tacloban City along with secondary data from authoritive news websites, the ASEAN, international organizations' official websites, update reports and academic journals.

#### 1.4.2 Interviews

Interviews were conducted among staff working on child protection rights development in disaster situations. Additionally, staff or representatives working on child protection and Typhoon Haiyan issues were included. Furthermore, three indepth interviews of INGOs<sup>13</sup> were conducted in Bangkok and using Skype.

The questions mainly focused on the work experience regarding child rights issues during disasters, their response concerning Haiyan issue and their expectations or suggestions for the ASEAN in terms of child rights protection during disasters.

#### 1.4.3 Field research

The field research was conducted in the Philippines, where the city received the biggest damage, i.e., Tacloban. The on the ground interviews and recovery observations were taken during the field research in Tacloban City and documentary research at Ateneo de Manila University. This field research accessed three international organizations still working on the ground for recovery work<sup>14</sup>. The interview questions focused on the child rights based conceptual framework's achievement according to their humanitarian relief works on the ground.

### **1.5 Thesis Structure**

This thesis was constructed in five chapters. The first chapter introduces the grounding concept on the relationship between humanitarianism and human rights, bringing out the arguments in this concept. Further, the ASEAN human and child rights development progress, including disaster situations in AMSs, especially Typhoon Haiyan was studied. This led to developing the research problem, determining the significances of this thesis, creating the research questions and objectives and the method and structure of this research. This introductory chapter gives the general content for guiding the whole thesis.

Chapter Two comprises the literature review focusing on three parts. Firstly the arguments on incorporating humanitarianism and human rights are presented. Secondly, reviews focusing on child rights in humanitarian relief during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Including Oxfam, SAVE and WV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Three child-focused INGOs: PLAN, SAVE, WV. And the field research was taken from 12<sup>th</sup> July 2015 to 17<sup>th</sup> July 2015.

disaster, linking individual rights with humanitarian relief during disasters, using UNCRC as an example, identifying child rights based on human rights framework, aiming to create the conceptual framework of this thesis research. In the last part, the literature review concerning implementing child rights in association with humanitarian relief and are connected to the ASEAN's role on implementing child rights or human rights mechanisms, which are still limited in this area.

Chapter Three is an analysis focusing on the researched child-focused INGOs, in the case of typhoon Haiyan, and how much of their humanitarian relief actions could achieve child rights on the ground by adopting a child rights based approach in humanitarian relief in this case study.

Chapter Four is an analysis focusing on the ASEAN, regarding how much of their humanitarian relief and coordination actions could achieve child rights on the ground by adopting a child rights based approach in humanitarian relief in this case study. At the same time, the possible ways for the ASEAN to implement child rights through humanitarianism were explored including the challenges.

Based on the introduction and the analyses, the last chapter forms the conclusion of the researched INGOs' and the ASEAN's humanitarian aid action on achieving child rights in the case of Typhoon Haiyan. Furthermore, suggestions for the ASEAN's implementation on child rights during disasters are presented.

# CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter will firstly discuss the relationship between humanitarianism and human rights in the existing literature and arguments concerning incorporating human rights in humanitarianism and the mismatch between the rights-based approach in a humanitarian relief and human rights framework. This constitutes the bedding for this research, to see the possibility of child rights achievement in the context of humanitarian relief work. The second part will discuss the relevant literature review of child rights in humanitarian relief; to review the discussion on the vulnerability of children and children's participation in disasters. It discusses the relationship between humanitarian relief during disasters and each individual right of the child, use UNCRC as an example, defining those child rights based on human rights framework, to create the conceptual framework for this thesis research. Lastly, the literature review presents seeing child rights as one, and in disaster situations, a blank area to integrate child rights in humanitarian relief, leading to the significance of this thesis research. The aim is not only to close the gap, but also connect with the ASEAN, to investigate its role in implementing child rights and even human rights development in the region.

#### 2.1 Humanitarianism and Human Rights

#### 2.1.1 Incorporating human rights in humanitarian relief work

For most people, humanitarianism and human rights convey the same meaning; in other words they're synonymous. However, Barnett provided a clearer definition, i.e., human rights is concerned with rights, while humanitarianism is concerned about needs. Human rights typically focuses on the long-term goals of eliminating the causes of suffering, while humanitarianism concerns the urgent goal of keeping people alive (Barnett, 2011). They have different focuses, but share the same headstream; the metaphor of Barnett is that, "they have flowed into each other over the decades". Darcy contributed a similar argument: humanitarianism and human

rights offer 'a shared concern with many of the same contexts, the same people, and the same threats to their wellbeing', and is the significant overlap of the two agendas (Darcy 2004, p 6). In recent years, other concepts of humanitarianism have been put forward, in which commonalities with the human rights agenda are present and the concept of human rights is increasingly invoked (Darcy, 2004, pp4–5).

In real practice, the two main arguments on humanitarianism and human rights are whether to incorporate or not. Gosden argued that "humanitarianism has the potential to act not only in its own right, but as an opening point for human rights awareness" (Gosden, 2007), and her research of Australian advocacy for asylum seekers/refugees supports this cooperation. She believed that, 'the realization of that potential depends on the making of connections-between the perception of another's suffering and effective tools not only for immediate and temporary alleviation of that suffering, but also for more long-term protection and defense against the imposition of that suffering' (Gosden, 2007). In this sense, humanitarian intervention/relief involves not just saving lives or providing basic survival aid work, but also opening the door to the achievement of human rights, to maintain long-term rights protection and create greater awareness. This could be a leading aspect to this research about child rights during disaster situations.

In addition, Gosden reported, 'situate local struggles within an international context and contextualize international struggles for human rights and humanitarian assistance' (Gosden, 2007, p 166). Thus, the case of child rights protection during disasters not only involves a local struggle, it needs to be linked with international interventions (for the ASEAN it entails regional interventions), to link with human rights and humanitarian crises.

As an open advocate of the new humanitarianism<sup>15</sup>, Barfod<sup>16</sup> is more positive about the new model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Fox brings this up in her article, 'New Humanitarianism: Does It Provide a Moral Banner for the 21st Century'? The 'new humanitarianism' is defined as 'principled', 'human rights based' and politically sensitive and geared to strengthening those forces that bring peace and stability to the developing world.

Here you would actually say, there is no way we can handle a situation without linking up with human rights issues, without linking up with development, to understand the real impact. We have to be part of the political process leading to peace; that is what we are really there for (IDC, 1999a).

Fox proposes adopting the rights-based approach, by humanitarian agencies and donor governments. She suggested that, 'many agencies have discovered, it is not an easy fit', and the new humanitarianism 'demands that all aid be judged on how it contributes to promoting human rights'(Fox, 2001,p 278). She also reviewed a discussion paper of ECHO<sup>17</sup>, which presents a strong case for mainstreaming human rights in ECHO's humanitarian activities (Fox, 2001).

### 2.1.2 The challenges in real practices

Western governments are happy to seize on these developments to co-opt agencies on to their own political agenda (Fox, 2001); this might not be the same in Southeast Asia, where the same political culture is not shared.

An article about the interface between humanitarian relief and human rights could bring us closer to this thesis research topic. Zeccola researched this relationship in the context of the conflict in Aceh, Indonesia, <sup>18</sup> in the post tsunami period. <sup>19</sup> In the disaster situation, providing food, medicine, and shelter to

<sup>16</sup> Mikael Barfod, a senior official at the European Community Humanitarian Office (ECHO).

<sup>17</sup> From a rights perspective, access to victims of humanitarian aid is not an end in itself and will not, therefore, be pursued at any cost. ... Access will be sought if it is the most effective way to contribute to the human rights situation (ECHO, 1999).

<sup>18</sup> Aceh Conflict: this conflict was fought by the Free Aceh Movement (GAM) between 1976 and 2005, with the goal of making the province of Aceh independent from Indonesia. The Indonesian state had designated it as the "Aceh Disturbance". Effects of strong military offensive in 2003 and the 2004 Indian Ocean earthquake brought a peace deal and an end to the insurgency. (Wikipedia)

<sup>19</sup> Paul Zeccola's research mentioned that 'the tsunami did not lead directly to peace, as there were a number of other factors at play: political will on the part of both sides being the most important'. His research 'concentrates on how international NGOs

internally displaced persons, while ignoring violent abuse, led to the tragic description of the victims as the "well-fed dead" (Cohen, 2006, p101). Those people were more in need of protection from attack, abuse or even trafficking, especially children and not simply of the support of food, to sustain their lives.

However, some claim that this politicized form of humanitarian action may have ill-effects for both the victims and the aid agency. Incorporating human rights issues into humanitarian assistance may attract unwanted political attention from state and non-state actors (Zeccola, 2010, p311). States or conflict groups, will easily see those humanitarian aid works as the 'announcement' of taking sides. In one case, Zeccola's research pointed out that 'the Indonesian military did not want foreigners to meddle in the conflict. It was clear that foreign assistance was welcome in response to the tsunami, but it was most unwelcome in response to the conflict' (Zeccola, 2010) and his interview with a TNI<sup>20</sup> official reported that, 'internationals were only permitted to work on tsunami-related activities and could not get involved in the conflict' (Zeccola, 2010). This raises the issue that when incorporating human rights in humanitarian actions, what the aid agencies could do mostly regards supporting basic needs; other human rights relative actions would be considered an ' internal political intervention'. NGOs face the problem of maintaining neutrality and also ensuring the safety of their staff on the ground. 'The integration of human rights in humanitarianism as the politicization of humanitarian aid could lead to the targeting of aid workers and to NGOs being forced to withdraw their programmes'(Zeccola, 2010).

The worst situation is that the NGOs were forced to withdraw, so their core work to support people's survival needs could no longer be achieved. Critics added that human rights or other political issues should be the responsibility of states (Zeccola, 2010).

Another challenge, found in the reference shows that a mismatch exists between the rights-based approach to humanitarian work and the framework of

dealt with the dual disasters of conflict and tsunami within a rapidly changing political dynamic in Aceh between 2005 and 2007'. (Zeccola, 2010, p308)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> TNI: Tentara Nasional Indonesia is the Indonesian National Armed Forces.

human rights in real practice. Klasing, Moses and Satterthwaite used the key principles of human rights, participation and accountability as examples, comparing their legal content to corresponding concepts in the humanitarian aid system. In addition, their survey of humanitarian workers and volunteers after the 2010 Haiti earthquake also supported this mismatch argument<sup>21</sup>.

In terms of participation and the legal framework of human rights, authors briefly looked at the UDHR (Universal Declaration of Human rights) and ICCPR (International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights), compared with the Sphere Project<sup>22</sup>.

'Humanitarian agencies tended to frame participation for beneficiaries within the confines of specific programs - not in relation to the exercise of participation in public life more broadly<sup>23</sup>, (Klasing, Moses & Satterthwaite, 2011). Except the participation for beneficiaries, human rights also require the assignment of obligations to duty-bearers, and humanitarian organizations do not ascribe 'a clear relationship between the organization, the state, and the disaster-affected and wider

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The context is that 'the humanitarian aid system regularly employs benchmarks and indicators to monitor its work and is experienced at applying these metrics in post-natural disaster interventions. By contrast, the human rights advocacy community has less experience both in using benchmarks and indicators and in monitoring rights in post-natural disaster situations. Recognizing that humanitarian actors often are the primary actors working with rights-holders after a natural disaster' (Klasing, Moses & Satterthwaite, 2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> In 1996, humanitarian organizations set up the Active Learning Network for Accountability and Performance (ALNAP) and the "Standards Project," which later became the Sphere Project, aimed at formulating standards for humanitarian assistance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>For example: The right to participation as adopted by the UDHR, has a political, public, cultural and arguably, an economic aspect; Sphere's "Common Standard 1: Participation" requires that "the disaster-affected population actively participates in the assessment, design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the assistance program"

local population' (Klasing, Moses & Satterthwaite, 2011). Thus, they argued that 'a more robust rights-based approach to participation in humanitarian interventions would ensure that participation in humanitarian programs would not replace the broader right to participation, but would create the environment which would enable the realization of that right' (Klasing, Moses & Satterthwaite, 2011).

In terms of accountability, authors compared the concept of accountability in human rights law and in the HAP (Humanitarian Accountability Partnership) Standard; the same mismatch was uncovered, 'While human rights law requires that individuals have access to accountability mechanisms and means of redress through state institutions, the HAP Standard is concerned with beneficiaries' ability to access these things vis-à-vis humanitarian agencies directly (Klasing, Moses & Satterthwaite, 2011).

Thus, the humanitarian relief that adopted human rights in its postdisaster work is facing different challenges. On the one hand, a fuller rights-based approach for humanitarian relief is needed, to ensure that the humanitarian intervention enhances the capacity of the disaster affected place and to fulfill its human rights obligations. On the other hand, this rights-based approach also faces serious political conflict on the disaster affected states, which have the influence in implementing a rights-based humanitarian relief action.

#### 2.2 Child Rights in Humanitarian Relief during Disaster

#### 2.2.1 The vulnerability of children

Children are normally considered 'as victims of natural events requiring protection by adults' (Tanner, 2010, p 339) in emergency situations. The adults including parents could also be defined as those making the decisions in humanitarian relief. In some terms, we adults belittle the power of children themselves, as they are 'not the property or an appendix of adults and would not depend solely on their benevolence' (UNCRC).

Certainly, in disaster situations, children require special protection; they face difficulties after the disaster. In addition, they confront a great chance to become orphaned or be separated from their families. Thus, without guardians they are in a situation with higher risk of abuse, violence, neglect and exploitation.

Erica Harper highlights that 'without parental protection, they are more vulnerable to illegal adoption, child marriage and trafficking. Even where children are not separated from their families, insecure housing, displacement, loss of employment, destruction of livelihoods and the death of a primary breadwinner, increases their vulnerability in households (Harper, 2009 p137). Harper makes a clear standpoint that the rights of the child in a disaster situation needs attention and protection<sup>24</sup>. Children have the right to choose to stay with their parents and even when they become orphans, they still have the right to choose their guardians. The same happens in fostering and adoption issues.

Johnson and Gaskins conducted an integrative review of the literature of Clinical Skill and Knowledge Requirements of Health Care Providers Caring for Children in Disaster, Humanitarian and Civic Assistance Operations (DHCA). Their research reported that military health care providers have an integral role during disaster, humanitarian, and civic assistance missions. Because 50% of patients seen in these settings are children (Johnson & Gaskins, 2013, p 61), even this article's focus was on military health care<sup>25</sup>. However, it brings the idea of DHCA, which could be considered an example of child rights integrated in humanitarianism and also at the same time, explores the form of humanitarian relief in disaster, except humanitarian INGOs, including states.

<sup>24</sup> She introduces children's rights problems in five points in disaster: Birth Registration; Guardianship, Fostering and Adoption; Child Labor; Child Sexual Exploitation and Child Trafficking. Birth registration is a crucial measure to prevent child labor, underage marriage, trafficking, premature enlistment into armed forces, and for protecting children in conflict with the law. In disaster situations, it could be classified as a prevention section.

<sup>25</sup> The purpose of this systematic, integrative review of literature was to describe the knowledge and clinical skills that military health care providers need to provide care for pediatric outpatients during DHCA operations (Johnson & Gaskins, 2013).

Moreover, Peek and Stough also think children have social vulnerability in the context of disaster, especially children with disabilities. Scholarship on social vulnerability and disaster often lists both children and individuals with disabilities as populations at particular risk when disaster strikes. Consequently, two parallel tracks of research - one on children, the other on people with disabilities - have emerged within the disaster literature (Peek & Stough, 2010).

In this sense, the vulnerability of children in disaster determines that their rights need to be protected during humanitarian relief; however, it does not mean that the vulnerability narrative limiting the protection form needs to be one sided: adults decide for children. As we have defined, the rights of children do not only mean protection rights.

#### 2.2.2 Children's participation

In addition, beyond seeing children's vulnerability, another view of rights achievement in disasters is children's participation.

For example, Inter-American Children's Institute has the concern that has become increasingly important in recent years, of protecting and guaranteeing the rights of children exposed to disasters and emergencies, owing to the consequences and impact events have had on this part of the population (Inter-American Children's Institute, 2011). They point out that children's rights need to be concerned during long-term humanitarian relief, except for basic survival support, children's participation could help reduce their vulnerability and minimize potential damage.

Similar to the argument of Johnson and Gaskins, Inter-American Children's Institute also agreed that, 'there is therefore a need for the immediate deployment - as soon as the disaster has taken place - of care and response mechanisms for their protection. The most successful experiences tend to be those where coordination exists between States, cooperation agencies and civil society' (Inter-American Children's Institute, 2011)<sup>26</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> For example, Inter-American Children's Institute mentions in their framework of action that their work also follows the principles of UCHA (United Nations Office for

Frequently, opinions or recommendations children make are disregarded in decision-making or program design. In the context of risk and disasters - often under the pressure of urgency - decisions and analyses made by adults are intensified, and the fact is disregarded that children are a part of society and have an enormous potential to contribute in emergencies, such as the role adolescents can play in these circumstances (Inter-American Children's Institute, 2011). To see and to implement children's participation rights integrated in humanitarian aid work is important.

Children have the right to be heard, Heather Montgomery argued this point in her research about child trafficking after natural disasters. In the post Asia tsunami of 2004,

Stories began to circulate of child abductions, children for sale and shadowy rings of trafficker preying on vulnerable children (for a detailed timeline of the spread of these stories see Richardson, 2005, pp.11-16), and trafficking in children has been reported in four major disasters: Asian tsunami 2004, the Pakistan earthquake of 2005, the Myanmar cyclone of 2008 and the Haiti earthquake of 2010 (Montgomery, 2011, p.396).

And at the end of Montgomery's research, most of the reports found no evidence and untrue stories were told by media. The use of this issue resonates with Western fears of child abduction and child sexual abuse, which in turn speak directly to Western anxieties about childhood (Montgomery, 2011).

Those reports and stories of trafficking were used as proof that trafficking was a major issue in the wake of disasters<sup>27</sup>; however, this issue was noted

the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs) to mobilize and coordinate effective and principled humanitarian aid, through partnerships with local and international actors

<sup>27</sup> Montgomery used Myanmar as an example, said that 'The issue of trafficking in Myanmar is extremely complex and politically sensitive. Certainly many women and girls do leave the country to work in Thailand's brothels, especially along the border areas, where there is evidence of police collusion and brutality (Bureau of Democracy,

even before those disasters, and in some cases for an outsider, it was hard to define whether those "victims" were trafficked or dad volunteered, Montgomery argued that in Southeast Asian this issue also affected by poverty, social inequality and sexual violence against children<sup>28</sup>. Further, this issue may become worse after natural disasters when families are facing poverty, because the effect by the disasters, however, it couldn't be considered as a major issue, survival support and livelihood building are always more emergent right after a natural disaster.

Children were more vulnerable regarding the rumours of child trafficking after natural disasters, but most important of all, focusing on trafficking detracts attention from children's lives. They had the right to speak about their own preoccupations and needs in the face of natural disasters (Montgomery, 2011).

Once a disaster has occurred, children left alone are exposed to abuse, violations, trafficking, migration or enforced recruitment, among other risks. The best resolution is to combine two arguments together. On the one hand, to see child rights requires special protection during disasters because they are vulnerable narrative. On the other hand, their rights to participate in the decision making process of humanitarian relief in disaster situation needed to be protected.

#### 2.2.3 Defining the child rights in natural disaster humanitarian relief

This section will review LeBlanc's definition of child rights of UNCRC. He analyzed the content of UNCRC<sup>29</sup>, based on a human rights theoretical framework devised by Donnelly and Howard, distinguishing it among survival, membership, protection, and empowerment rights<sup>30</sup>. However, this is a general

Human Rights, & Labor, 2008). This remains a serious and ongoing problem, but it was not one caused, or necessarily exacerbated, by the cyclone' (Montgomery, 2011).

<sup>28</sup> "the sexual abuse of children is a myth and I, among others, have carried out extensive work among child prostitutes with Western clients in Southeast Asia and have seen first hand the impacts of poverty, social inequality and sexual violence on children" (Montgomery, 2011).

<sup>29</sup> A summarized table of LeBlanc's analyzed categories shown in APPENDIX A.

<sup>30</sup> Our "short list" of ten rights can be grouped into four categories: 1. "Survival" rights, which guarantee an individual's existence: rights to life, food and health care.
framework and some rights might not match a natural disaster humanitarian relief situation. This review aimed to adjust the conceptual framework for this thesis research in terms of the child rights based approach in humanitarian relief. However, framework was based on the theoretical framework of human rights.

Firstly, regarding survival rights, the drafters of the UNCRC clearly shared the same definition of "survival". Article 6: 1. states parties recognize that every child has the inherent right to life. and 2. states parties shall ensure to the maximum extent possible the survival and development of the child. LeBlanc discusses problems about the abortion, the rights of unborn children and the death penalty, which are beyond the humanitarian relief framework. Those rights that sustain life are more important such as the rights to an adequate standard of living<sup>31</sup>, to social security<sup>32</sup> and to health care<sup>33</sup>. In addition, these rights' are also among the achieved goals of humanitarian organizations.

Secondly, membership rights, include nondiscrimination<sup>34</sup> and family rights<sup>35</sup>. Except for the general definition on nondiscrimination, a special group of children are mentioned: children with disabilities <sup>36</sup>, which was also reviewed previously about children with disabilities in disasters. Family rights include parental

- <sup>31</sup> UNCRC Article 27
- <sup>32</sup> UNCRC Article 26

- <sup>35</sup> UNCRC Article 5
- <sup>36</sup> UNCRC Article 23

<sup>2. &</sup>quot;Membership" rights, assure one an equal place in society: family rights and the prohibition of discrimination. 3. "Protection" rights, which guard the individual against abuses of power by the state: rights to habeas corpus and an independent judiciary. 4. "Empowerment" rights, provide the individual with control over the course of his or her life, and in particular, control over (not merely protection against) the state: rights to education, a free press, and freedom of association (Donnelly & Howard, 1988, pp 214-248).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> UNCRC Article 24,25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> UNCRC Article 2

rights and duties regarding the child<sup>37</sup>, and alternative means of child care<sup>38</sup>. These are also important in disaster situations because children may be separated from their family environment either temporarily or permanently after natural disasters. Even when they stayed with their parents, the disaster may also have damage their family livelihood, and thus, family rights become a concern. Moreover, LeBlanc expanded one more category in as the right to a name and nationality<sup>39</sup>, which is important in disaster situations because without such documents and data children, may not be able to access health care, education or other social services<sup>40</sup>.

Thirdly, concerning protection rights, LeBlanc discussed three parts: exploitation and abuse, abduction of and trafficking in children and participation in armed conflict. Armed conflict involves a the different situation from natural disasters, so this part won't be covered in this research. Regarding the issues of exploitation and abuse<sup>41</sup> and abduction of and trafficking in children<sup>42</sup>, they connect to natural disaster situations during the previous review about the vulnerability of children that could prove that children are facing a higher risk of exploitation and abuse during disasters. For example, Montgomery believes that in the case of the tsunami and other natural disasters, child trafficking was rather lazily added to the list of disaster tropes in a way that positioned children and their families as pitiful victims (Montgomery, 2011).

Lastly, regarding empowerment rights, this category includes freedom of expression and information; freedom of thought, conscience, and religion; freedom of association and assembly and freedom of education. Related to humanitarian relief in natural disasters, freedom of thought, conscience, and religion is beyond this research's concepts and the freedom of expression and information<sup>43</sup>

- <sup>39</sup> UNCRC Article 7
- <sup>40</sup> See Harper, 2009, p 139
- <sup>41</sup> UNCRC Article 32, 34
- <sup>42</sup>UNCRC Article 35
- <sup>43</sup> UNCRC Article 12,13,17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> UNCRC Article 9,18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> UNCRC Article 20,21

and freedom of association and assembly<sup>44</sup> could be seen as children participation rights, those concern being heard on matters that affect children themselves, which were also reviewed previously regarding the importance of children's participation during natural disaster's humanitarian relief. Education<sup>45</sup>, of course, is one of the major concerns for humanitarian INGOs, stakeholders and states in post-disasters.

Overall, most of the child rights could relate to humanitarian relief in natural disasters. Thus, based on the theatrical framework of human rights, using the UNCRC as a examining body to obtain a child rights based conceptual framework for this thesis research in terms of humanitarian relief in a natural disaster, is shown below:



26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> UNCRC Article 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> UNCRC Article 28

	•Survival and development of the child
Survival Rights	<ul> <li>The right to an adequate standard of living</li> </ul>
our mannants	•The right to social security
	•The right to health care
	Nondiscrimination
	-Children with disabilities
	•-Children of indigenous origin
Membership Rights	<ul> <li>Right to a Name and Nationality</li> </ul>
	•Family Rights
	•parental rights and duties regarding the child
	•alternative means of child care
	•Exploitation and Abuse
	•sexual exploitation
Protection Rights	<ul> <li>economic exploitation</li> </ul>
	•Abduction of and Trafficking in Children
	•abduction
	•trafficking
	• Freedom of Everyssion and Information
NEW R	•Freedom of Expression and Information
Empowerment Rights	•Freedom of thought, conscience, and Religion
	•Freedom of Association and Assembly
	<ul> <li>Freedom of Education</li> </ul>

*Figure 2.1.* Child Rights Based Conceptual Framework created by the author, based on the definition of child rights by LeBlanc, L.J.

#### 2.3 Conclusion

The first part of the literature review advocated incorporating human rights in humanitarianism, given the importance of the 'new humanitarianism' in this liberal humanitarianism age. Researchers have discussed that today's humanitarian relief not only involves saving lives, but goes further, to include human rights and finally justice. In Gosden's words, " 'Connecting the dots' between the need for immediate humanitarian relief and sustainable legislative reform and human rights protection, and between local experience and international factors brings us to a fuller awareness of the 'wholeness' of this endeavor; the intertwining of humanitarian needs with those for human rights and justice and the opportunities for effective and linked interventions of these foci at local, national and international points of entry" (Gosden, 2007). Those analyses provided the grounding concept of this thesis research, between child rights and disaster humanitarian relief.

On the other hand, the arguments raised in Aceh, an Indonesian case, uncovers the problems and challenges of this integration, which happened in Southeast Asia. Moreover, it has a similar political culture and similar social environment as in the Philippines, i.e., the post disaster period as well. The involved international humanitarian relief working groups need to face this problem. They are struggling to implement the 'new humanitarianism' in a politically-sensitive context and many are hamstrung by their donors and lack the willingness to work with the conflict (Fox, 2010). Moreover, the mismatch between the rights-based approach to post-disaster humanitarian work and the legal framework of human rights raises the problem of the lack of a more robust and fuller right-based approach in humanitarian intervention.

In an emergency situation, child rights need more attention than in a normal situation. The second part of the literature review discussed different viewpoints to understand child rights in aid work in the terms of disaster humanitarian relief and scholarship on social responsibility. Civil society is discussing this issue in two main concepts of children's rights: their vulnerability narrative and their participation in humanitarian relief.

By reviewing the relevant literature, the rights of children have been clearly paid attention to in disaster situations in some specific sections. By reviewing an analysis on the definition of UNCRC, based on the human rights framework, linking those child rights with natural disaster's humanitarian relief will obtain an adjusted child right based conceptual framework in natural disaster situation, to examine child rights achievement in the case of Typhoon Haiyan.

In this thesis, the research has focused on all the cases of child rights implementation by humanitarian relief, discussing the child rights based approach integrated in humanitarian aid work. The case study of Typhoon Haiyan in 2013 aimed to close the gap of incorporating child rights in humanitarian relief and to examine the successes and problems in this incorporation. Additionally, connected to the ASEAN's role, the study aimed to discover other directions that the ASEAN could implement its child rights or human rights mechanisms.



# CHAPTER 3 INGOS' HUMANITARIAN RELIEF FOR CHILDREN IN TYPHOON HAIYAN

This chapter focuses on the INGOs humanitarian relief works after Typhoon Haiyan (Yolanda), based on a field research conducted in Tacloban City, Leyte, the Philippines<sup>46</sup>. The analysis was based on the in-depth interviews from three child-focused INGOs<sup>47</sup>, and the secondary data. The conceptual framework was employed to investigate what rights of children have been achieved in their humanitarian relief actions, to answer the research questions regarding the integration between child rights and humanitarian relief during natural disaster situations. In addition, lead to the further discussion on ASEAN in the next chapter.

#### **3.1 Context**

The Republic of the Philippines is struggling with poor economic conditions and reoccurring political unrest; the country has been actively engaged in law and policy making to protect children's rights (Boele, 2005). However, most of these protections are focused on child trafficking, sexual exploitation of children issues and children in armed conflict, which are serious problems concerning children's rights in the Philippines.

Poverty is always a big issue in the Philippines, poverty incidence rose to 26.9% for families in 2006 compared with 24.4%t in 2003. Of the 2006 population, about 36 million were estimated to be children under 18 years old. This accounted for 41.73% of the total population at the time (around 86.264 million) who needed support or were dependent on an adult. Children were found to be among those

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> The field research took place from 12 July 2015 to 17 July 2015; one and one half years after Typhoon Haiyan hit the city.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> PLAN, SAVE and WV, the selected INGOs, are the example humanitarian organizations.

considered the poorest among the basic sectors. This poverty situation was difficult to reconcile with the Arroyo Government's pronouncements of economic growth from 2003 to 2006. Growth in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) does not always translate to poverty reduction. Data also showed that this growth was not enough to liberate 26.9 percent of Filipino families from poverty because commodities increased faster than their income, which remained below the poverty line (Yacat, 2011, p 7-8).

Poverty is the root to cause of problems related to child rights issues, for example, regarding education, the country faces a the lack of qualified teachers, and a large number of educators have migrated to other countries, such as the US, Europe and other Southeast Asian countries. The high cost of education forces children to leave school leading to child labor problems (Yacat, 2011). The humanitarian relief work is related to the state's political, social and economic problems as well, because when humanitarian relief workers finish their responsibilities on one particular disaster issue and move to the next, the responsibility is placed upon the state.

In addition, poverty causes the number of hospitals to close down or scale down operations, which has increased over the last few years. The lack of government support has pushed some public hospitals to demand payments from patients (Yacat, 2011). This also creates humanitarian relief difficulties in terms of health care Issus.

Regarding the child rights in the Philippines, the UNCRC has noted the fairly advanced general legal framework for child protection in the Philippines, besides, the conceptual framework for the analysis in Typhoon Haiyan case is also based on the UNCRC's definition.

The selected examine INGOs are, WV, Save and PLAN, which are child focus INGOs and response to Typhoon Haiyan before it occurred until this study's data collection ends, two years after the Typhoon Haiyan. And their natures are similar. WV is an evangelical Christian humanitarian aid, development, and advocacy organization; SAVE is an international non-governmental organization that promotes children's rights, provides relief and helps support children in developing countries; PLAN is s an international organization, focus on children development which works in 51 countries across Africa, the Americas, and Asia to promote the safeguarding of children. This part of analysis will focus on their humanitarian relief during these two years.

#### 3.2 Case Study: Typhoon Haiyan

On 8 November 2013, one of the most powerful storms ever recorded made landfall in Guiuan, Eastern Samar Province, and the Philippines. Typhoon Haiyan brought sustained wind speeds of up to 235 km/hour and a storm surge as high as 5 meters in some of the coastal areas. It quickly tore through the Visayas region, leaving a trail of devastation in its wake across nine provinces on the islands of Leyte, Samar, Eastern Samar, the northern tip of Cebu and Panay (Finnegan, 2013).



*Figure 3.1.* The path of Typhoon Yolanda/Haiyan. Adopted form Reliefweb, "Philippines:Typhoon Haiyan (Yolanda) Storm Surge (based on actual typhoon track)(As of 12 Nov 2013)", by UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, MapAction, 2013, retrieved from

http://reliefweb.int/map/philippines/philippines-typhoon-haiyan-yolanda-storm-surgebased-actual-typhoon-track-12-nov

Tacloban, the provincial capital of Leyte, was one of the worst hit areas. A densely populated coastal city, Tacloban was hit by a massive storm surge, which reached 7 meters in height and went up to 1km inland in places, causing massive destruction, similar to that caused by a tsunami. Tacloban City served as a response center in Leyte Province, and much response and recovery work were conducted with some humanitarian working groups still operating here. This study's conceptual framework; was applied to exam and evaluate how much work was achieved regarding child rights in this area.

We did think Yolanda is so strong, we are facing a lot of typhoons every year; we are preparing as usual, but we did not know that this time is so different...it destroyed everything, bodies are by the street; we have never see like that (Barangay/ community staff interview, 15<sup>th</sup> July, 2015).

The Philippines is one of the most high-risk counties for experiencing natural disasters in the world. People never thought this time the typhoon was so strong enough to destroy their entire house and took levies from their families.

In the terms of humanitarian relief as soon as the typhoon occurred, most agencies used a system called Cluster Coordination<sup>48</sup>, the basis of the current international humanitarian coordination system was set by General Assembly Resolution 46/182 in December 1991. The Humanitarian Reform of 2005 introduced new elements to improve capacity, predictability, accountability, leadership and partnership (UNOCHA). <sup>49</sup>The clusters comprise groups or actors of humanitarian organizations, both UN and Non-UN. However, the cluster mechanism was only applied in the response and early recovery period, in terms of basic survival support and reconstruction, such as provide WASH, shelters, temporary health center, later on working on rebuilding schools and hospitals, etc. In the long term, the mechanism will transition to a national level approach.

In the case of Typhoon Haiyan, after the early response, the humanitarian relief mechanism transitioned to the OPPARR (Office of President Assistant for Rehabilitation and Recovery), the government agency that coordinates with clusters, and established for Typhoon Haiyan only.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Appendix B, an example figure of cluster approach in humanitarian relief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> UNOCHA (United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs).

More information about cluster coordination can be found at

http://www.unocha.org/what-we-do/coordination-tools/cluster-coordination

#### **3.2.1 Survival rights**

#### **3.2.1.1 Standard of living**

During the post-typhoon period, including PLAN, SAVE and WV, and other international humanitarian relief teams, supported WASH (water, sanitation and hygiene) as the first step. By cooperating with the government and local NGOs, WASH reached as many people and children as they could.

In the early recovery period, we applied the process of identification of areas to approach. To make sure that our relief work will not overlap, everyone sits together to discuss our own responsibilities in different areas (WV interview, 14<sup>th</sup>, July, 2015).

WV's WASH facilities in 8 schools and 5 health facilities were rehabilitated. When completed, this activity reached 44,645 people, at the same time, to address this need, WV is undertook the rehabilitation of Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 water supply systems, to improve community access to safe and sustainable water sources (WV Typhoon Haiyan Response 6-Month Report). For longer term, 18 months and even two years on, WV is still working on WASH activities, to benefit more children and their families.

PLAN and SAVE also contributed to shelter building and WASH providing actions. To date, 131 transitional shelter beneficiaries are renting their land; 216 household latrines were completed and 240 septic tanks were rehabilitated to partially and severely damaged shelter structures until May 2015 (PLAN's Disaster Response Internal Situation Report).

SAVE also constructed household water connections and four communal tap stands in Tacloban, Leyte. They were able to build more than 6,500 latrines, 165 communal latrines, and provided over 300 latrine subsidy vouchers and hand washing facilities in schools and community health stations that reached an estimated 50,000 individuals (SAVE-Typhoon Haiyan Response Two Years on).

"We also provided training to family members, parents especially mothers, and we train them with new technical skills, to help them with their family incomes" (SAVE interview, 16<sup>th</sup> July, 2015)."

For instance, WV's 'Cash for Work' Program provided communities with an immediate cash injection, supporting households with the cash

they needed to meet their immediate basic needs. This activity lasted during the posttyphoon for two years, providing speedy livelihood support for parents and their children.<sup>50</sup>

For these three INGOs, consensus on survival rights involved livelihood building in the community<sup>51</sup>, including providing WASH, shelter kits, shelters, the 'Build Back Better' Program and 'Cash For Work' Program etc. aimed to improve people's livelihood. However, even 2 years after the super typhoon, more works needed to continue. Numbers of parents left their home for work, and children still faced livelihood problems and unprotected environments, due to problems with income generations within the families linked to other issues regarding child rights.

#### **3.2.1.2 Social security**

In the early relief period, child friendly spaces were built, to help children and mothers, except for health care and psychological assistance.

We took care of community halls or established community centers, so the services for children continued at the community level, called community child friendly space facilities... We trained the people in the community, staff and parents how to deal with children, how to provide them technical assistance, and how to deal with children that had experience some psycho-social distress, because of the attack of Yolanda (SAVE interview, 16<sup>th</sup> July, 2015).

In the long term follow-up to one year, the child friendly space facilities expanded, according to SAVE, also providing needed functions such as youth and mother training.

Moreover, PLAN worked on gender protection, established women friendly spaces, provided secure protection for women and girls to have guided discussion and access to information concerning rights, sexual reproductive health-(SRH) and protection from GBV (gender-based violence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> WV Typhoon Haiyan Response 6-Month ,18-Month and 24-Month Reports

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> The humanitarian relief on the ground was involved in mapping from province to municipality, to barangay, and finally to the beneficiary selected. In their words, one barangay constituted one community.

In 2015, WV initiated the 'Hope for Tacloban's Children Project'. It aimed to assist some of the worst-hit communities of Tacloban by creating safe environments for children to live, play and learn through rehabilitation of childfocused community assets, disaster preparedness at the community level and providing support for income-generating initiatives that would help families provide for children. To data, 14,544 beneficiaries have already been reached by the project and it also crosscut to child rights regarding education and participation (WV Typhoon Haiyan Response 24-Month Report).

#### 3.2.1.3 Health care

By increasing the number of health or day care centers among the temporary shelters, many children were able to access clean water, medical care, vaccinations and foodstuff to prevent malnutrition. A total of 43 health centers provided micro-nutrients and de-wormers for children and 965 people attended psychological first aid sessions across 33 trainings during the emergency phase, under the response of WV for 2 years (WV Typhoon Haiyan Response 24-Month Report).

For example, according to PLAN's data, the barangay health stations' (BHSs) physical accomplishment totaled 72.03% in San Joaquin, Palo and Leyte (Plan's Disaster Response Internal Situation Report).

#### **3.2.2 Membership rights**

#### **3.2.2.1** Nondiscrimination

Nondiscrimination involves children with disabilities and indigenous origin. For all these three INGOs do not have a specific project or concern for these groups of children; however, they mentioned that all children have the equal opportunity to be helped, and some people do have priority.

"-How about the Muslim group? Does the relief work consider this? -We provide meals ready to eat, and basically all are chicken" (PLAN interview, 15<sup>th</sup> July, 2015). The interviewers mentioned that normally children with disabilities are supported by other NGOs, such as Handicap International. <sup>52</sup> However, it's not specific for children during the disasters.

#### **3.2.2.2 Family rights**

Membership rights also deal with family rights, in the post disaster period. In the child friendly spaces facilities and day care centers, mothers were trained, including pregnant mothers, about child rights and child protection. In the long term, other family members were also included in the trainings.

We will supervise the local government, to train those parents or elderly kids in the family some technical or life skills, for the purpose that they could have more advantage in looking for a job, to increase the family income (WV interview, 14<sup>th</sup> July, 2015).

WV facilitated the provision of basic skill-based training in viable alternative livelihood activities for those families wishing to establish a new livelihood source, either through employment or self-employment (WV Typhoon Haiyan Response 6-Month Report). These interventions improved incomes to enable families to access the resources needed to meet their food, education and health expenses, e.g., related activities etc. (WV Typhoon Haiyan Response 24-Month Report). Increasing income in the family is important for children to access other sectors of rights, like education and health etc. SAVE and PLAN also held the similar trainings for families, to increase their incomes. Decreasing poverty is one solution for children separated from their parents.

#### 3.2.2.3 Right to a name and nationality

Registering names after the typhoon was important, including new-born and other community members. Registering names protects their rights and also makes sure they could receive help and cross cutting to protect child rights. The method helps prevent trafficking in children and for other protection rights, registered name is needed. In this regard, PLAN had a 'birth-registration project' to fulfill the tripartite Memorandum of Agreement between PLAN, LGUs (local government units)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> After Typhoon Haiyan hit the Philippines, Handicap International set up mobile clinics where the injured and people with disabilities could receive basic health care.

and the Philippine Statistics Authority (PSA) already signed, that started the reconstruction of destroyed birth certificates (Plan's Disaster Response Internal Situation Report).

Important problems about child adoption didn't seem to be mentioned, for those children who lost their parents in a disaster situation.

#### **3.2.3 Protection rights**

The sexual exploitation and abuse in children, child trafficking and abduction will be discussed in this part. Firstly, WV and SAVE mentioned that, these sectors were also cross cutting to other programs even before Typhoon Haiyan hit; these constitute international child rights concerns already. Mostly, they are mainly the responsibility of the national government, underlining international laws and cooperation. At the same time, both WV, SAVE and PALN mentioned their response and helped to mobilize the Barangay Council for the Protecting of Children (BCPC) in the field.

However, PLAN had an 'anti-trafficking person project' in the Haiyan response team, which cooperated with the Philippine Police.

#### **3.2.4 Empowerment rights**

These rights concern the freedom of expression and information; freedom of thought, conscience and religion; association and assembly; and the freedom of education for children. In other words, the empowerment rights of children ensure is child participation and in obtaining rights of education.

#### **3.2.4.1 Child participation**

Child participation is receiving more attention in every child rights protection issue. In the long term, children's voices are becoming a necessary method for child rights protection. PLAN created the Youth Reporter Project, by teaching children how to use media to express their feelings and share their stories after Typhoon Haiyan. PLAN and WV also instituted a project entitled, 'children monitoring'. Children would have the opportunity to teach their community members technical skills concerning DRR, which they learned from schools or trainers. Being young and fast learners, their views could better present what they truly want.

"They teach our children about disaster prevention; they know how to protect themselves and their families when the typhoon comes, now the children become our teachers" (Barangay/ community stuff interview, 15<sup>th</sup> July, 2015).

Children's participation- Children want to be systematically included, as participants, in disaster risk reduction programs, and wish for their views to be systematically collected in future rapid needs assessments, and evaluations. To meet the needs of girls hygiene kits include sanitary materials. Girls, in particular, are very concerned about whether they will have access to further education (Maloney, 2014, p5).

#### 3.2.4.2 Education

During the early response and recovery, WV, PLAN and SAVE established temporary schools for children with the aim to put children back in school as soon as possible.

We cooperated with UNICEF to provide study materials such as school bags, pencils, books, and so on...and we also provided a more structured social and learning environment for children in the community... those are for when the schools were not yet regularly open, and then.. By reaching the teachers (SAVE interview, 16<sup>th</sup> July, 2015).

WV was the main actor responding to reconstruction and repair. "They undertook the repair and reconstruction of classrooms and other school facilities in 22 schools across the three response zones... this activity benefitted an estimated 4,699 students and teachers in 22 schools". Additionally, learner's kits and teacher's kits were distributed (WV Typhoon Haiyan Response 6-Month Report). Two years after Typhoon, WV had repaired 18 schools (of 22 planned schools) and reached 6,059 children; 6,546 learners kits were distributed to children, and 353 teachers received much needed kits with goods that empowered them to continue teaching (WV Typhoon Haiyan Response 24-Month Report).

For PLAN, in the first three months, 6,109 schoolchildren were enabled to continue their learning with 'back to school' kits; 7,579 children older than six months received food supplements to prevent malnutrition and 10,443 children were supported to play, learn and receive emotional support (PLAN International – Fact sheet Typhoon Haiyan after three months). The rebuilding is still ongoing today, creating more schools and classrooms. Further, DRR increased the number of subject taught in the schools by training teachers in DRR courses. Simultaneously, the training for out of school youth crosscut cutting education and membership rights. Those trainings could provide a better opportunity when applying for a job.

One interesting project of SAVE, incolved cooperating with local universities to offer major courses concerning DRR, and provide professional teachers in DRR course. It promises to be a great project for a long term recovery, and transition to the disaster preparedness and prevention, especially for young children.

#### **3.3** Conclusion

SAVE, WV and PLAN are international organizations focusing on child issues, with their own humanitarian aid teams, fully experienced in disaster relief operations for children. In the case of Haiyan, by adopting the conceptual framework, they achieved most of the child rights during their humanitarian relief work, since typhoon happened until the field research interviews, regarding to their action plans; the response will continue until 2017 or 2018<sup>53</sup>.

In disaster humanitarian relief operations, the primary concern for children is their survival rights; as soon as a disaster occurs, their livelihoods are threatened. Therefore, WASH and the shelter building, were the actions to secure an adequate standard of living for children, which these three INGOs had achieved this Child rights to social security were ensured by building child friendly spaces facilities, child friendly spaces respond to children's rights to protection, psychosocial wellbeing, and non-formal education. However, there was a large amount of children could not access, furthermore, child friendly space facilities could not ensure fully social security protection, thus, the cooperation with local and national government and police was needed, which they did touch this point and crosscutting the children's protection rights such as child trafficking issue. And for a longer term, the responsibility will transit to the local and national government. Securing child rights

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> To be clearer, a INGOs achievement analysis summary sees Appendix C.

to health care, was effectively working at this point. In this case, incorporating survival rights to humanitarian relief could be seen as a successful practice at INGOs' level.

Regarding child membership rights, the relief work did well in concerning family rights, which they considered long term development for the family, such as training for family members, to increase family income, to rebuild their livelihood better.

The participation of children during post-typhoon was also viewed as an achieved integration between child rights and humanitarian aid work, including child education rights.

The unachieved child rights mainly related to protection rights, such as child exploitation and abuse issues, or children abduction. In addition, children with disabilities still need a specific attention for appropriate responses; child rights to a name and nationality and child trafficking also need more concerns. These issues constitute hotspot in human rights. As we discuss about the vulnerability of children, these risks are magnified in a disaster situation.

However, the nature of INGOs limited the fully achievement of child rights in the case of the typhoon Haiyan, in the reason that their work also related to their organization founders, stakeholders, donors, and others. For example, in terms of child of indigenous origin, WV is a Christian focus organization, it doesn't mean WV won't work on un-Christian, however, its nature limit WV is just one tributary of this right achievement actors. Moreover, to avoid the overlaps on humanitarian relief, the INGOs are separated to respond in different affected areas, due to the limited number of child-focused NGOs/INGOs, not all the response areas received humanitarian relief by integrating the child rights approach. There is not possibly for all un child-focused INGOs to apply this specific approach for children because their natures, Thus, the child rights couldn't get fulfill by only one or two NGO/INGOs, and even not only NGO/INGOs, but also need the incorporation form national and regional lever, in terms of general monitoring and coordinating, the state's humanitarian relief remains a possible actor here, as well as ASEAN.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

# ASEAN'S HUMANITARIAN RELIEF FOR CHILDREN IN TYPHOON HAIYAN

In this chapter, we will move our line of sight to the ASEAN, to investigate how much rights of children could be achieved by the ASEAN's humanitarian actions in the case of Typhon Haiyan, by examining its humanitarian relief assistant organization, AHA Centre.

For the analysis of the role of ASEAN in integrating child rights to humanitarian relief, the main focus will be on the ASEAN Committee on Disaster Management (ACDM), which is the main platform for ASEAN'S policy-making on humanitarian issue (Fan & Krebs, 2014), aims to test the ASEAN's ability to effectively plan on disaster management and emergency response; and the ACWC (ASEAN Commission on the Promotion and Protection of the Rights of Women and Children) aims to discover how the ASEAN focuses on children in disasters; moreover, the APG, to observe the cooperation between the ASEAN and child focused INGOs in this partnership group.

At the end, based on the findings of child rights achievement from last chapter, and the different nature between INGO and intergovernmental organization like ASEAN, discuss the role of the ASEAN and possible means for the ASEAN to incorporate child's rights to humanitarian relief in natural disasters, as well as the challenges.

#### 4.1 Context

Asia is the most prone area to disasters in the world, according to Table 4.1. And Table 4.2 Sawada used the dataset covering the period 1980 to 2007, including twelve countries were used for natural disaster, which seven of them are AMSs (Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, the Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam). It's clear to verify that ASEAN region faced frequent natural disaster.

Table 4.1

Number of Natural Disaster per Year (Average from 2001 until 2010)

	Africa	Americas	Asia	Europe	Oceania	Global
Climatological	9	12	11	17	1	50
Geophysical	3	7	21	2	2	35
Hydrological	44	39	82	24	6	195
Meteorological	9	34	40	14	7	104
Total	65	92	153	58	16	384

Data: Annual Disaster Statistical Review 2011, CRED, IRSS & UCL, 2012.

Note. From "Disaster Management in ASEAN" by Sawada, Y. & Zen, F.

2014, ERIA Discussion Paper, p. 2.

Table 4.2

Incidence of Disaster in East and Southeast Asia

	Currency	Inflation	banking	Geophysical	Meteorological	hydrological	climatological	biologics
# of countries	8	8	8	12	12	12	12	12
Year								•
1980	1	1	1	7	0	0	6	4
1981	0	1	2	6	8	7	4	3
1982	0	0	2	8	9	9	6	5
1983	2	0	4	8	9	0	6	5
1984	3	1	3	6	6	9	3	3
1985	0	1	4	8	0	9	5	5
1986	1	0	4	5	8	9	5	3
1987	0	0	4	4	7	6	7	3
1988	0	0	2	8	6	8	5	4
1989	1	0	0	7	0	7	3	3
1990	1	0	0	6	1	. 9	6	6
1991	0	0	0	4	9	8	5	3
1992	0	0	3	6	0	8	5	5
1993	0	0	2	6	9	9	4	1
1994	1	1	3	4	7	8	3	1
1995	0	0	3	6	6	7	3	2
1996	0	0	3	6	7	0	2	5
1997	5	0	8	5	7	6	5	5
1998	2	1	7	3	6	6	4	7
1999	0	1	7	5	6	0	6	5

2000	3	0	6	5	9	0	2	6
2001	0	0	6	4	8	1	0	2
2002	0	0	2	6	9	8	4	9
2003	0	0	0	6	0	0	3	1
2004	0	0	0	8	1	1	5	8
2005	0	0	0	5	9	2	7	8
2006	0	0	0	6	7	2	4	6
2007	0	0	0	8	7	0	5	6

*Note.* From "Disaster Management in ASEAN" by Sawada, Y. & Zen, F. 2014, ERIA Discussion Paper, p. 13.

Natural disasters are beyond human control; however, limiting the damage caused by those natural disasters is possible. The ASEAN, as a regional intergovernmental organization, creates working plans or groups for disaster management that will make a key difference in the region. On the other hand, human rights issues in Southeast Asia are always a sensitive discussion topic, even though the ASEAN has the regional mechanisms like AICHR. In terms of child rights, AICHR's work plan 2011-2015 indicates a study on 'women and children in conflict and disaster', showed that ASEAN human rights development did consider the issue of child rights in disasters, and later the ACWC to promote and protect the human rights and fundamental freedoms of women and children in the region.

#### 4.1.1 Natural disasters and disaster management in ASEAN

In 1976, the ASEAN adopted disaster management as one of its eight principles and objectives. According to the declaration, "Natural disasters and other major calamities can retard the pace of development of Member States; therefore, they shall extend, within their capabilities, assistance for relief of Member States in disasters."

The early cooperation in disaster management is the 11<sup>th</sup> ASEAN Expert Group on Disaster Management (AEGDM) Meeting in Chiang Rai in 2000, considered the elevation of the AEGDM to an ASEAN Committee or a Senior Officials Meeting on Disaster Management that could report to the ASEAN Ministerial Meeting on Disaster Management (AMMDC). In 2003, ACDM was established, its mission is to enhance cooperation in all aspects of disaster management, including prevention, mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery through mutual collaborative activities (ASEAN DRR Portal, 2013). Then in 2004, the AMMDC was set aimed at reviewing and enhancing regional cooperation on disaster management. Accounting to ACDM, the coordinating unit responsible for the tasks is AADMER established in 2005 and placed in effect since 2009 (Sawada & Zen, 2014). This agreement works within a regional framework targeting all aspects of DRR and disaster risk management (DRM), including risk identification, monitoring and assessment, prevention and mitigation, disaster preparedness, emergency response, control of assistance, rehabilitation, technical cooperation, scientific research and institutional arrangements such as simplified customs and immigration procedures (HFP, 2014). The ACDM is the key driving force in the implementation of the AADMER.

#### 4.1.2 Humanitarian relief in ASEAN

Along with concern on disaster management, ASEAN moves forward to humanitarian relief. The ACDM is responsible for the overall coordination and implementation of regional activities on disaster management, and acts as the primary forum for exchanges on humanitarian issues with external actors, including outside governments (Labbé, Fan & Kemp, 2013).

First of all, the AHA Centre, establish in 2011, as the operational coordination body and engine of AADMER's implementation, and with the ACDM as its governing board. The AHA Centre is responsible for monitoring and early warning systems working on disaster preparedness, and is aimed at facilitating cooperation and coordination among different actors. As soon as a disaster occurs, AHA Centre prepares the early response and disaster relief. However, being a new born humanitarian organization, the AHA Centre is working on the basic relief actions, and has yet to expand to longer term humanitarian works, and obviously, has yet to become involved other child right focuses except survival relief.

ASEAN does support humanitarian relief; however, it is not considered as a donor institution as other humanitarian aid organizations, because it does not provide humanitarian assistance outside the region. In addition, within the region, ASEAN focuses on technical assistance, diplomatic engagement, volunteer programs and other 'soft' and non-money forms of engagement (Fan & Krebs, 2014). Except the limitation of finical support, humanitarian relief in ASEAN is also facing another challenge.

In 2008, Cyclone Nargis struck Myanmar, ASEAN succeeded in breaking the deadlock between the government of Myanmar and the international community, successfully brokered humanitarian access to affected areas and oversaw the recovery effort for a period of two years, however, similar issue like 2004 tsunami and the conflict in Ache, Indonesia. Myanmar began its historic reform in 2011, and there was conflict in its Rakhine State. Different from the humanitarian relief for Cyclone Nargis, ASEAN choose do not play a significance role in this violenceincluded humanitarian crisis (Fan & Krebs, 2014).

#### 4.2 Children in the ASEAN's Humanitarian Response

#### 4.2.1 ASEAN Committee on Disaster Management (ACDM)

From the report of the AADMER Work Program-Phase 1<sup>54</sup>, only one program connecting disaster relief with child rights was the ASEAN Safe School Initiative (ASSI). In the strategy and priorities for the AADMER Work Program Phase 2, all projects mentioned in Phase 1, would be implemented for three years, from 2013 to 2016, and the ASSI program planed with the support of APG, because the APG has child-focused INGOs; thus the ASSI could be considered an achievement of child education rights and social security rights.

## 4.2.2 ASEAN Commission on the Promotion and Protection of the Rights of Women and Children (ACWC)

The ACWC is an intergovernmental body and an integral part of the ASEAN organizational structure. It is a consultative body. It seeks to promote and protect the human rights and fundamental freedoms of women and children in Southeast Asia, taking into consideration the different historical, political, socio-cultural, religious and economic context in the region and the balances between rights and responsibilities. (ACWC Work Plan 2012-2016).

<sup>54</sup> Appendix D

As the ASEAN's regional human rights institution which focuses on child rights, like other ASEAN working bodies, the ACWC also has numerous projects regarding the rights of children and women. Its Work Plan 2012-2016 raised the issues about elimination of violence against children, the right of participation, children trafficking issues, children with disabilities and its Child Protection System: Comprehensive/Integrative Approach for Children in Need for Special Protection, education, social impact of climate change, adolescent physical and mental health etc.

Among these projects, one that connects with relief work during disasters is the Child Protection System: Comprehensive/Integrative Approach for Children in Need for Special Protection. It states that the special protection include victims of abuse and neglect, trafficking, child labor, children affected by statelessness, undocumented migrant children, HIV/AIDS, natural disaster, conflicts, and children in juvenile justice system/children in conflict with the law (CICL) (ACWC Work Plan 2012-2016).

#### **4.2.3 AADMER Partnership Group (APG)**

APG's partners include the AADMER, the ASEAN Secretariat and the donors. It works at both the ASEAN and national levels, and its members include ChildFund, HelfAge International, Mercy Malaysia, PLAN, SAVE and WV. The APG constitutes a consortium of seven civil society organizations formed to assist in the implementation of AADMER. APG is in partnership with the ASEAN towards a "people-centered implementation of the AADMER" focusing on promoting visibility and participation of vulnerable groups.

The APG's programs started in 2009 with the drafting of the AADMER Work Program, the implementation strategy for the AADMER. Since then, the APG has been collaborating with the ACDM and its working groups, the ASEAN Secretariat and the AHA Centre as well as AMSs in the popularization and implementation of AADMER.

Within the seven partners are four child-focused international organizations, i.e., ChildFund International, PLAN, SAVE, and WV International. Regarding disaster humanitarian relief, these INGOs could provide rich experience to the ASEAN's humanitarian relief in terms of child rights integration on the ground.

As an intergovernmental organization, the nature is different from INGOs, ASEAN's role is mainly on coordination or promoting, and however, in the issue of child rights incorporated to humanitarian relief in natural disaster, the coordination and promotion also need a clearer framework to work with.

#### 4.3 Case Study: Typhoon Haiyan

#### **4.3.1 Survival rights**

The ASEAN did respond very fast after Typhoon Haiyan hit, according to Channel News Asia;

The AHA Centre came up with the ERAT (Emergency Rapid Assessment Team), said Edgardo Ollet, director of the operations center at the National Disaster Risk Reduction Management Center (NDRRMC). "They were there already on the ground before the landfall and before the typhoon. For typhoon Haiyan they were here during the pre-disaster risk assessment and they knew already where to go in Tacloban.

At the first minute, the AHA Centre Deployed two staff in Manila to coordinate and assist emergency telecommunication access in Tacloban and deployed and standby two ERAT (Emergency Rapid Assessment Team) members from Brunei Darussalam to assist damage assessment and emergency response(ASEAN, Situation Update No. 01 Typhoon/Philippines, Friday, 8 November 2013, 15:00). Simultaneously, the AHA Centre also provided urgent relief on the ground, providing food and water, family kit and shelters.

As the ASEAN doesn't have a specific term working for children only, the research considers the relief includes children as well. For early response the ASEAN contributed basic standard of living and health care.

However, the information of the ASEAN'S follow-up recovery work on Typhoon Haiyan is hard to trace. On 14<sup>th</sup> August 2014, the ASEAN and the government of the Republic of the Philippines co-convened the ASEAN High- Level Conference on Assistance for the Recovery of Yolanda-Affected Areas (ARYA). The conference was organized to gather new support that would assist the government of the Philippines in implementing its national and local recovery and rehabilitation plans nine months after the typhoon occurred. However, the conference promoted idea sharing and the real action plans were brewing.

#### 4.3.2 Membership rights, protection rights, empowerment rights

For the reason that the ASEAN itself does not have any systemic plan in long term humanitarian relief, the understanding of the AHA Centre on humanitarian relief seems to imply a fast response to disaster; they do not have follow-up action after the monitoring and early response. This means limited dates and references to analyze membership, protection and empowerment rights concerning children, in terms of humanitarian relief.

In the long term, the ASSI may be able to serve as a helpful program to implement disaster prevention and mitigation for children in school.

#### **4.3.3** The cooperation in Typhoon Haiyan

Firstly, is AHA Centre, except the individual response, it also contributed in monitoring and deploying logistics and communications personnel to Manila and Tacloban, besides the humanitarian relief, also worked close with the NDRRMC in the Philippines.

Secondly, APG as a partnership group, in the case of Typhoon Haiyan, each stakeholder had its role in response to the disaster. Right after the typhoon, the APG published a report about the concerns of children after the typhoon.

The APG's child focus organizations, i.e., SAVE, PLAN, and WV, and UNICEF, identified a gap in the needs-assessment phase, namely, inadequate consultation with children. Children's insights, voices and experiences were not yet systematically reflected in needs assessments. While 41% of the affected population comprised children, assessments so far focused almost exclusively on needs and priorities expressed by adults (Finnegan, 2013, p 8).

This cooperation report focused on the recommendations from children, except regular disaster humanitarian relief, children's survival problems, their livelihood, education and health care. Children's own suggestions are important; they are the people who receive all of this help and are the ones who have the right to give feedback the most, we could also see examples from the last chapter's analysis from those three child-focused INGOs' practices in the case of Typhoon Haiyan, however, there is still lack of evidence that APG's cooperation achieve the rights of children in the Typhoon Haiyan case, in the reason that during the field research in Tacloban City, all the interviewers didn't clear about the humanitarian relief corporation with any groups from ASEAN, as the interviewers are on the ground coordinators and officers and have been in Tancloban City as soon as the Typhoon Haiyan occurred. To maintain this partnership group is a good assumption, the child-focused INGOs in the APG could give the ASEAN the experience to development its own child focus framework in natural disasters, however, yet in the case of Typhoon Haiyan.

Furthermore, for ACDM and ACWC, there is no data to research their plans or programs related to children in the case of Typhoon Haiyan, even it is included in their working plans about children in disasters.

The ASEAN is an intergovernmental organization, and has its specific position and power in the region. Even though its policies and actions and information updating is designed for more development, it could play its own role to serve as the catheter between civil society and the local government on the ground during a disaster situation, like how it worked during the humanitarian relief in Cyclone Nargis 2008, be the bridge between the government and the international sectors to facilitate humanitarian relief. In addition, after 2008 ASEAN established AHA Centre, APG, there is more expectation to see ASEAN's development in humanitarian relief, it is even further way to go.

#### **4.4 Conclusion**

#### 4.4.1 Child rights incorporated to ASEAN humanitarian relief

The ASEAN did respond immediately right after Typhoon Haiyan, and ASEAN's humanitarian organization AHA Centre updated the typhoon Haiyan situation at an early period, nothing the urgently needed items in the impacted area. They deployed staff in Manila to Tacloban and deployed ERAT members from Brunei Darussalam to assist damage assessment and emergency response. However, this was just the general relief response and lacked a comprehensive summary or response report. Moreover, it did not specifically focus on the rights of children, according to the Diplomat;

Yet the Association of Southeast Asian Nations has been conspicuously absent. Despite the immense destruction inflicted upon one of its one own, the ASEAN has not stepped up and led. Instead, that mantle has been seized by the United States and the U.N. Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs. Worse, beyond providing reporting and shuffling staffers through the ASEAN Coordinating Centre for Humanitarian Assistance (AHA), ASEAN has done comparatively little in any capacity.

The AHA Centre is even in the process of constructing a permanent office in Tacloban, working closely with the NDRRMC in the Philippines, and both share a constant stream of information especially weather forecasts and multi-hazard mapping (The Diplomat). However, apart from the AHA Centre's contribution in monitoring the storm and deploying logistics and communications personnel to Manila and Tacloban (Fan & Krebs, 2014), which the permanent office for, ASEAN has not played a notable part in humanitarian relief in the aftermath of Typhoon Haiyan. The response still lacks attention on children.

In summary, by adopting the conceptual framework, the ASEAN's fast response led by the AHA Centre could achieve the survival rights of children, e.g., the standard of living and health care. However, social security needs were limited. Furthermore, children's membership rights, protection rights and empowerment rights were not covered by AHA Centre's humanitarian relief, and APG corporation in the case of Typhoon Haiyan.

# 4.4.2 The role of ASEAN in child rights incorporated to humanitarian relief

The uncompleted achievement on child rights of AHA Centre and APG doesn't mean a fail for ASEAN in child rights incorporated to humanitarian relief, there is still rooms for ASEAN to fill in, as AHA Centre is a new born humanitarian relief organization, and due to its limitation on finical support to ASEAN, by the end of January 2014, international donors had channeled a total of \$663m to relief efforts (Congressional Research Service Report, ii), which came from Development Band, the UE, the UN and the World Bank. Against this, \$500.000

pledged by ASEAN seems paltry (Fan & Krebs, 2014). Which it's one of the mainly influence factors to ASEAN's humanitarian relief.

Based on the discussion of last chapter, in terms of child rights, for INGOs there are limitations on working on child rights to social security; children with disabilities; children of indigenous origin, rights to a name and nationality; exploitation and abuse, abduction and trafficking. Thus, ASEAN could put more focus on those rights implementation in the case of Typhoon Haiyan, in cooperating with the local government and other international communities, to cover more unachieved rights of children, and this corporation could also happen to other natural disasters. However, the lack of a child rights based legal framework limits the fully implementation.

Furthermore, as a regional intergovernmental organization, ASEAN could play the role on dealing with the mismatch between rights-based approach to humanitarian relief and the human rights framework. The problem was presented in chapter two, which humanitarian relief organizations concerned with rights-holders' access, instead of a border concern on the assignment of obligations to duty-bearers, the duty-bearers traditionally is the state actors. Thus, ASEAN is the one who may deal with this mismatch, with a more robust rights-based approach in humanitarian relief.

To implement this role, ASEAN is also facing different challenges. First of all, ASEAN is a diversity region on culture and political status, for example the case of Cyclone Nargis and Typhoon Haiyan,

> The organization's role in the response in the Philippines was much less extensive than it had been following Cyclone Nargis in Myanmar. This may be inevitable given the differences in the two countries' domestic situations and international standing. Myanmar, with a history of foreign interventions and internal conflict, holds a xenophobic worldview which led it to block international aid after Cyclone Nargis (Fan & Krebs, 2014)

ASEAN played as an interlocutor between the international community and Myanmar's military junta, resulting in unprecedented and often praised humanitarian engagement. However, the Philippines, has traditionally been open to foreign aid during disaster.

Second, no matter the issue, whether disaster management, child rights protection or humanitarian relief, the ASEAN had concerns. However, the focus was shallow and actions were without further development. As ASEAN doesn't have a framework about child right based approach to humanitarian relief, and there is a need to develop. However, the key actor is hard to be decided. As ACWC works on child rights, ACDM works on disaster management, AHA Centre focus on humanitarian relief, APG is an implementation sector. ASEAN should develop a response actor, integrating the current actor such as ACWA, ACDM, AHA Centre, APG etc., could help to establish a new strategy to integrate these actors.

Last but not least, the problem of limited finical support is also affect the humanitarian effective on child rights achievement, for example, the lack of staffing limitations.

In summary, even ASEAN as individual humanitarian relief actor, could not fully achieved child rights in the case of Typhoon Haiyan, as an intergovernmental organization, more focuses can be on cooperation, monitor or promotion. By this case study, based on the discussion of the child rights achievement of INGOs, find out that there are rooms where ASEAN could fill in, however, the incorporation also facing many challenges.

## CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND SUGGESTIONS

#### 5.1 Conclusion

The ASEAN human rights and the rights of children have received attention, as evidenced by the signing of agreements to join the CRC. The ASEAN has started to put child rights issues on the table. At the same time, the disasters that continue to attack the ASEAN region frequently have received much needed attention, particularly the heaviest one in recent years, namely, the super Typhoon Haiyan in the Philippines 8 November 2013. It caused huge damage to the country, where children were a vulnerable group facing higher risks than usual. In addition to INGOs humanitarian response, the ASEAN also made its fastest response to the disaster ever; the AHA Centre was on the ground within 24 hours and donations were sent to the locals quite quickly. Regarding the different natures of the ASEAN and INGOs, this study argues the ASEAN can serve many roles based on the uncovered rights from the INGOs, to fill in the gap and incorporate fuller achievement on child rights in natural disaster humanitarian relief, using the case of Typhoon Haiyan.

The literature review, covering the concept of merging humanitarianism and human rights, has narrowed the focus on child rights and humanitarian relief during disaster situations. The review shows a gap that most of the discussions on child rights in humanitarian relief focus on one or only some particular right of children during disasters. Moreover, during the real practice, a mismatch was observed between the rights-based approach to post-disaster humanitarian relief and the human rights legal framework, which showed the need for a comprehensive and stronger framework to reach border rights and to deal with the relationship between rights-holders and duty-bearers. Therefore, it raises the thesis's research questions about the child rights approach integrated in humanitarian aid work. In this term, this study used UNCRC's definition as an example to relate to humanitarian relief and to examine the child rights achievement by an adjusted conceptual framework in the third and fourth chapters. In addition, the study focused on the ASEAN's role to incorporate another direction that the ASEAN could implement its child or human rights mechanisms.

The first analysis focused on three INGOs during Typhoon Haiyan that still continue their humanitarian relief work on the ground in Tacloban. The field research was undertaken in Tacloban City, by interviewing staff on the ground and observing the environment in Tacloban City. Applying the conceptual framework of this research, analyzing four parts of the rights of children, those three INGOs achieved a great humanitarian response and tremendous recovery relief work in terms of child rights in the case of Typhoon Haiyan.

Yet, they still had their limitations. Children with disabilities are one big concern, and other protection rights, including exploitation and abuse; abduction and trafficking still need specific concern to respond to those issues. Another problem is that not all the response areas could receive humanitarian relief by integrating the child rights approach in real practice.

For the ASEAN, it has becomes less active after their fast humanitarian relief response. The AHA Centre did function well in monitoring and early warming, and cooperated with other actors on the ground during the typhoon. As there was not one specific working plan or group for children, the analysis had to combine adult and children as the research focus, to ensure that the relief response also included children. As a result, only part of the survival rights have been fulfilled (standard of living and health care), as the individual humanitarian relief actor could not fully achieve child rights in the Haiyan case. As an intergovernmental organization, more focus can be made on cooperation, monitoring or promotion, that was especially well-positioned at the regional level, to promote integration and implementation of child rights in humanitarian actions. By this case study, based on the discussion of the child rights achievement of INGOs, gaps were observe which ASEAN could fill in. However, the incorporation also faces many challenges.

Thus, for the first research question, the child-focused INGOs and the ASEAN's humanitarian relief works achieved most of the child rights, which examined by the conceptual framework and could not conclude that the incorporation was unsuccessful because it had not fulfilled all the listed rights of children. After investigating and analyzing the data, the parts of child rights that were not achieved,

were realized by other responding actors. The findings support the perspective that most of the child rights of this study's conceptual framework could be incorporated in humanitarian relief in the case of Typhoon Haiyan.

Based on the findings of uncovered child rights in the case of Typhoon Haiyan, the question is raised that the ASEAN, as an intergovernmental organization, with its role at a regional level, could promote integration and implementation among the AMSs, civil society, individuals etc. The ASEAN could serve as a coordinator to implement child rights incorporating humanitarian relief.

Furthermore, integrating child rights in humanitarian relief in disaster situations could be considered as an open door access to human rights. Thus, it presents another possible way for the ASEAN to secure child rights, and further, human rights development.

#### **5.2 Suggestions**

By examining child rights achievement in the case of Typhoon Haiyan, the findings of uncovered rights of INGOs and ASEAN lead to the possibility for the ASEAN to play a significant role concerning implementation. However, the ASEAN also faces lot of challenges; the suggestions are based on these challenges.

For the ASEAN, two main points remain for child rights to be incorporated in humanitarian relief in disasters as described below.

• A child rights based framework needs to be created for to humanitarian relief, dealing with the mismatch between the child rights based approach to humanitarian relief and the child rights framework.

• A key actor to have child rights incorporated to humanitarian relief could be developed based on the child-focused principle. Integrating the current actor such as ACWA, ACDM, AHA Centre, APG etc., could help to establish a new strategy to integrate these actors.

• Developing humanitarian relief staffing facilities is necessary, to increase the ability to provide and exsure humanitarian relief.

Local government agencies need to be more active in cooperating with humanitarian response teams, supported by national regulations or laws.

For civil society, NGOs and INGOs, humanitarian action should contribute to larger rights-based structures within the relevant state, not only the rights-holders but also the duty-bearers.



#### REFERENCES

AADEMER Work Programme Phase Accomplishment Report, Phase 1. (2013).

Retrieved from

http://www.asean.org/storage/images/2013/socio\_cultural/AADMER%20Wor k%20Programme%20Phase%201%20Accomplishment%20Report%20(final). pdf

ACWC Work Plan 2012-2016. Retrieved from

http://www.asean.org/storage/images/resources/2014/Jan/2013%2011.%20nov %20-%20acwc%20work%20plan%20and%20tor.pdf

- Boele, F. (2005). Report on the implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child by the Philippines .*Committee on the Rights of the Child 39th Session – Geneva*.
- Barnett, M. (2011). Empire of Humanity, A History of Humanitarianism. *Connell* University Press, Ithaca and London.
- Cameron, C.& Davies, G. M. (2010). Children and Disaster Risk Reduction in Asia and the Pacific: A Way forward. *Discussion paper at the High-Level Meeting on Cooperation for Child Rights in the Asia-Pacific Region, Beijing, China, 4-6 November.*
- Chamberlain, G. (2010). Child traffickers prey on Burma's vulnerable. *The Daily Telegraph*.
- Cohen, R. (2006). Strengthening Protection of IDPs: the UN's role. *Georgetown* Journal of International Affairs. Winter/ Spring. 101-109
- Campbell, T. D. (1992). "The rights of the minor: as person, as child, as juvenile, as future adult", Children, rights and the law, ed. Philip Alston et al. *Oxford University Press*.
- Darcy, J. (2004). Human rights and humanitarian action: a review of the issues. Human Rights and Humanitarian Action-HPG Background Paper.
- Donnelly, J. (1993). Human rights, humanitarian crisis, and humanitarian intervention. *International Journal, Vol. 48, No. 4, Humane intervention*, 607-640.

- Donnelly, J. & Howard, R. E. (1988). Assessing National Human Rights Performance – Theoretical Framework. *Human Rights Quarterly*, 214-248.
- ECHO. (1999). Towards a Human Rights Approach to European Commission Humanitarian Aid. *ECHO Discussion paper*.
- Fox, F. (2001). New Humanitarianism: Does It Provide a Moral Banner for the 21st Century? *Disasters*, 25(4), 275–289.
- Fan, L. & Krebs, H. B. (2014). Regional Organisations and humanitarian action: the case of ASEAN. HPG Working Paper
- Finnegan, L. (2013). After Yolanda: What Children Think, Need and Recommend. *Save the Children.*
- Gosden, D. (2007). From humanitarianism to human rights and justice: a way to go. *AJHR Vol.13.*1.
- Hunt, L. (2011). Asia counts flood costs. The Diplomat.
- Harper, E. (2009). International Law and Standards Applicable in Natural Disaster Situations. *International Development Law Organization*.
- Hyogo Framework for Action. (2005). Retrieved from http://www.unisdr.org/2005/wcdr/intergover/official-doc/L-docs/Hyogoframework-for-action-english.pdf
- Hesselman, M. (2015). "Regional human rights regimes and humanitarian obligations of states in the event of disaster", Humanitarian Action. *Cambridge University Press.*
- International Development Committee. (1999a). Conflict Prevention and Post-conflict Reconstruction (volume II) Minutes of Evidence and Appendices. *HMSO*, *House of Commons, London*.

Inter-American Children's Institute. (2011). Child Rights in Disaster Risk Management- Policy position paper. Retrieved from http://resourcecentre.savethechildren.se/sites/default/files/documents/6587.pdf

Johnson, H. L. & Gaskins, S. W. (2013). Clinical Skill and Knowledge Requirements of Health Care Providers Caring for Children in Operations: An Integrative Review of the Literature. *Perhospital and Disaster Medicine*, 61-67.

- Klasing, A. M, & Moses, P. S. & Satterthwaite, M. L (2011). Measuring the Way Forward in Haiti: Grounding Disaster Relief in the Legal Framework of Human Rights. *Health and Human Rights, Vol.13. No. 1.* 15-35.
- Li, T. H. (2011). The ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights, Institutionalizing Human Rights in Southeast Asia. *Cambridge University Press New York.*
- LeBlanc, L. J. (1995). "Defining Children's Rights", The Convention on the Rights of the Child, United Nations Lawmaking on Human Rights. University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln and London.
- Labbé, J. & Fan, L. & Kemp, W. (2013). Cooperation from Crisis? Regional Responses to Humanitarian Emergencies, *International Peace Institute*.
- Montgomery, H. (2011). Rumours of Child Trafficking after Natural Disasters –Fact, fiction or fantasy? *Journal of Children and Media*, *Vol.5*, *No.4*, 395-410.
- Medina, C. P. (1999). Foreword to Towards an ASEAN Human Rights Mechanismproposal, declarations and related documents, *Working Group for an ASEAN Human Rights Mechanism*.
- Maccormick, N. (1976). Children's Rights: A Test-Case for Theories of Right. Archives for Philosophy of Law and Social Philosophy, Vol. 62, H. 3.
- Maloney, M. (2014). See me, ask me, hear me: children's recommendations for recovery three months after Typhoon Haiyan. *Save the Children*. Retrieved from

https://www.savethechildren.org.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/14856/Typho on-Haiyan-three-months-on.pdf

- Maloney, M. (2014). Are we there yet? Children's Views on Haiyan recovery and the road ahead, *Save the Children*. Retrieved from http://resourcecentre.savethechildren.se/sites/default/files/documents/typhoon\_haiyan\_one\_year\_on.pdf
- Penrose, A. & Takaki, M. (2006). Children's rights in emergencies and disasters. *The Lancet, Vol.367 No.9511*, 698-99.
- Peek, L. & Stough, L.M. (2010). Children with Disabilities in the Context of Disaster: A Social Vulnerability Perspective. *Child Development, Vol.81, No.4.* 1260-1270.

Plan International. (2015). 3-Month on Fact Sheet, Feb 2015. Retrieved from http://www.planuk.org/assets/Documents/pdf/Plan\_International\_fact\_sheet\_\_Typhoon\_Haiya

n\_3\_months\_on.pdf

- Plan Internatioanl. (2015). Two Years after Typhoon according to the Survivors. Retrieved from https://plan-international.org/publications/two-years-aftertyphoon-according-survivors
- Slim, H. (1997). Relief Agencies and Moral Standing in War: Principles of Humanity, Neutrality, Impartiality and Solidarity. *Development in Practice, Vol. 7, No. 4*, 342-352.
- Sisira Jayasuriya & McCawley, P. (2010). The Asian Tsunami, Aid and Reconstruction after a disaster. *Asian Development Bank Institute and Edward Elgar*.
- Save the Children. (2014). Six Months after Typhoon Haiyan. Retrieved from http://www.savethechildren.org/atf/cf/%7B9def2ebe-10ae-432c-9bd0df91d2eba74a%7D/TYPHOON%20HAIYAN\_SIX-MONTH%20REPORT\_MAY%202014%20(2).PDF
- Save the Children. (2015). Typhoon Haiyan Response Two years on. Retrieved from https://mhpss.net/?get=150/SavetheChildren\_Haiyan\_Yolanda\_TwoYearsOn. pdf
- Sawada, Y. (2007). The Impact of Natural and Manmade Disasters on Household Welfare. *Agricultural Economics 37 (s1)*, 59-73.
- Sawada, Y. & Zen, F. (2014). Disaster Management in ASEAN, *ERIA Discussion Paper Series*.
- Tanner, T. (2010). Shifting the Narrative: Child-led Responses to Climate Change and Disasters in El Salvador and the Philippines. *Children & Society, Vol. 24*, 339–351.
- The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/ The World Bank. (2012). ASEAN Advancing Disaster Risk Financing and Insurance in ASEAN Member States: Framework and Options for Implementation. Retrieved from https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/gfdrr/files/publication/DRFI\_ASEAN\_REPORT\_J une12.pdf

- UNICEF. (2014). One Year After Typhoon Haiyan, Philippines, Progress Report. Retrieved from http://www.unicef.org/appeals/files/UNICEF\_Philippines\_Typhoon\_Haiyan\_1 \_Year\_Progress\_Report\_-\_Dec2014.pdf
- Wilson, R.A. & Brown, R.D. (2011). 'Introduction', Humanitarianism and Suffering, The Mobilization of Empathy. *Cambridge University Press*.
- World Vision. (2014). Typhoon Haiyan Response 6-Month Report. Retrieved from https://www.worldvision.org/sites/default/files/Typhoon-Haiyan-6-Month-Report.pdf
- World Vision. (2015). Typhoon Haiyan Response 18-Month Report. Retrieved from http://www.wvi.org/sites/default/files/Haiyan%2018month\_for%20web.pdf
- World Vision. (2015). Typhoon Haiyan Response 24-Month Report. Retrieved from http://www.wvi.org/sites/default/files/24%20month%20external%20report\_FI NAL.pdf
- World Vision. (2015). Two years since Typhoon Haiyan: Communities Rebuild with World Vision. Retrieved from

http://www.worldvision.org/sites/default/files/Haiyan%202%20year.pdf

Wannachan Apple Chaimontree. (2010). Living with disasters and changing climate, Children in Southeast Asia telling their stories about disaster and climate change. *Save the Children*. Retrieved from

http://www.preventionweb.net/files/submissions/15087\_Livingwithdisastersw eb.pdf

- Yacat, J.A. (2011). Child Protection in the Philippines: A Situational Analysis. Save the Children
- Zeccola, P. (2010). Dividing disasters in Aceh, Indonesia: separatist conflict and tsunami, human rights and humanitarianism. *Disasters, Vol. 35(2),* 308-28.

# APPENDIX

## **APPENDIX A**

## CHILD RIGHTS DEFINITION BY LAWRENCE J. LEBLANC

	The Right to Life	-abortion and the rights of the unborn child - The death penalty
Survival Rights	Survival and Development of the Child	<ul><li>The right to an adequate standard of living</li><li>The right to social security</li><li>The right to health care</li></ul>
Membership	Nondiscrimination	-children born out of wedlock -children with disabilities -children of indigenous origin
Rights	Right to a Name and Nationality	
	Family Rights	-parental rights and duties regarding the child -alternative means of child care
24	Exploitation and Abuse	-sexual exploitation -economic exploitation
Protection Rights	Abduction of and Trafficking in Children	-abduction -trafficking
	Participation in Armed Conflict	-the age limitation in armed conflicts
	Freedom of Expression and	-freedom of expression
	Information	-freedom of information
	Freedom of thought, Conscience,	- Freedom of thought, conscience, and religion
Empowerment	and Religion	-rights of parents
Rights	Freedom of Association and	
	Assembly	
	-Freedom of Education	-the nature of the right to education -the goals reward of education

#### **APPENDIX B**

### THE CLUSTER APPROACH IN HUMANITARIAN AID WORK



## **APPENDIX C**

## INGOS ANALYSIS SUMMARY

			ING Os	Note
Survival Rights	Survival Rights	Standard of living	$\checkmark$	
		Social security	V	Cross-cutting to protection rights
	15	Health care	$\checkmark$	
Membership rights	Nondiscrimi- -nation	Children with disabilities		Cross-cutting to other INGO
1/5	- Ann	Children of indigenous origin	19	
	Rights to a nar	ne and Nationality	V	Corporated with the national government
	Family Rights	parental rights and duties regarding the child	V	5
	28	alternative means of child care	$\checkmark$	
Protection Rights	Exploitation and Abuse	sexual exploitation	2//	Plan International has anti-trafficking
		economic exploitation		project; others are cross cutting to society security
	Abduction of and	abduction		rights, and corporation with
	Trafficking in Children	trafficking	$\checkmark$	local government
Empowerme nt Rights	Freedom of Expression and Information		$\checkmark$	Children's participation
	Freedom of the	ought, conscience, and Religion	$\checkmark$	
	Freedom of Association and Assembly			
	Freedom of Education		$\checkmark$	

## **APPENDIX D**

## AADMER WORK PROGRAM-PHASE 1

Preparedness and Response	Phase 1
Establishment of a Disaster	The project was launched in December 2012.
Emergency Response Logistic System	Relief items from the DELS have been
(DELS) for	mobilised to respond to actual disasters in the
the ASEAN Region	region.
111	5550
Establishment of a Fully-Functional	64 of ASEAN-ERAT have been trained. About
ASEANEmergency Rapid Assessment	1/3 of them have been deployed to exercises
Team (ERAT)	and actual disasters. Procedures, systems and
112-15-500	equipment are in place with the AHA Centre to
	support the deployments.
Finalisation and Institutionalisation of	SASOP Chapters I to V are finalised, and have
ASEAN Standard Operating	been tested and validated in exercises and actual
Procedure for Regional Standby	disasters.
Arrangements and Coordination of	Work-in-progress in promoting civil-military
Joint Disaster Relief and	coordination in HADR.
Emergency Response Operations	
(SASOP)	

Recovery	Phase 1
Production of a Disaster Recovery	Lack of progress is recorded in this
Toolkit	component.
Prevention and Mitigation	Phase 1
(Long-term Recovery)	
Building Disaster-Resilient ASEAN	As part of the efforts to build disaster resilient
Cities	ASEAN cities, a three-year programme on
	ASEAN Safe School Initiative (ASSI) is
	currently on-going, with the support of
	AADMER Partnership Group (APG).
Capacity Building for Community-	Training has not been conducted. However,
Based Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR)	there are partners in the region that have
	offered Community- Based DRR Training.
N/ Sugar	
Setting-up Mechanisms for Disaster	ASEAN Disaster Risk Financing and
Risk Financing	Insurance
	(DRFI) Roadmap was adopted by three
	sectors
	in November 2011. The ASEAN Cross-
	Sectoral
	Coordination Committee on DRFI was
	established in April 2013 the following
	decision of the 17 <sup>th</sup> ASEAN Finance
	Ministers Meeting (AFMM).

## BIOGRAPHY

Name

Date of Birth

Miss Wei Wu

January 7, 1989

**Educational Attainment** 

Academic Year 2010: Bachelor of Art, Xiangsi Lake College of Guangxi University for Nationality, China

